Eastleigh House
Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

18 January 2021

HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
will meet on
Monday, 25 January 2021
beginning at
7:00 pm
PLEASE NOTE: this is will be a ‘virtual meeting’. The meeting can be viewed
here: https://bit.ly/35KbXm3
TO:

Councillor Cynthia Garton (Chair)
Councillor Janice Asman (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Margaret Allingham
Councillor Richard Gomer
Councillor Lucy Jurd
Councillor Derek Pretty
Councillor Adrian Trace

Staff Contacts:

Councillor Ian Corben
Councillor Keith House
Councillor Rupert Kyrle
Councillor Bruce Tennent
Councillor Tim Bearder

Nikki Dunne, Democratic Services Officer, 02380 688298
Email:nikki.dunne@eastleigh.gov.uk. Please email
Democratic.Services@eastleigh.gov.uk to register to speak before
the meeting.
Julia Birt, Local Area Manager Tel: 023 8068 8437; Email:
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk

NATALIE WIGMAN
Corporate Director - Strategy
___________________________________________________________________
Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the Council's website https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and other
languages, upon request.
PLEASE NOTE that any member of the press and public may listen-in to
proceedings at this ‘virtual’ meeting via a weblink which will be publicised on the
Council website at least 24hrs before the meeting. It is important, however, that
Councillors can discuss and take decisions without disruption, so the only
participants in this virtual meeting will be the Councillors concerned, the officers
advising the Committee and any participants who have registered in advance to
speak. This meeting will be recorded.

1

AGENDA
1.

Apologies

2.

Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the
agenda. Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes.

3.

Minutes

(Pages 5 - 10)

To consider the Minutes of the meeting held on 2 November 2020.
4.

Public Participation
Councillors not on the Local Area Committee and members of the public can
participate during this section of the meeting in the following ways:


If you are able to participate live (meet the technical requirements) and wish to
be present and speak, you will need to notify Democratic Services 4 working
days (Midday Tuesday 19 January 2021) before the meeting. Technical and
etiquette guides will be provided.



Alternatively, the public can email a statement to be read out by ‘the
spokesperson’. Emailed statements will need to be received 2 working days
(Midday Thursday 21 January 2021) before the date of the meeting.
Democratic Services will confirm receipt of the email and confirm it can be read
out.



The statement (including questions) will be the equivalent of a maximum
of three minutes if read out. Please therefore restrict your statement to one
side of A4 (12 font). This applies audio/ video recordings also.



Alternatively a MP4 file will be sent to Democratic Services 4 working days
(Midday Tuesday 19 January 2021) before the meeting. This must be
accompanied by a written transcript (emailed). In the event that the file does not
meet technical requirements the transcript will be read by the spokesperson
and shown on the screen.

Please contact us via democratic.services@eastleigh.gov.uk

2

5.

Chair's report

6.

Local Area Manager's Report

7.

Financial Management

(Pages 11 - 20)

8.

Local Area Action Plan

(Pages 21 - 28)

9.

Presentation on Planning Guidelines

10.

Planning Application - Hedge End Retail Park, Tollbar Way, Hedge End, SO30
2UH (Pages 29 - 46)
Removal of existing Oak tree T4 and provision of hard and soft landscaping
scheme including new tree planting, amenity space and associated development.
(F/20/89127)

11.

Planning Application - Hedge End Retail Park, Tollbar Way, Hedge End, SO30
2UH (Pages 47 - 54)
Various tree works (Please see Covering Letter, Tree Survey Report and
Landscape Strategy for details of works proposed to retained trees G2, G3 and T3
(total no. 13 trees). (T/20/89128)

12.

Planning Application - Boundary Lakes Golf Course, Moorhill Road, West End,
Southampton, SO30 3XH (Pages 55 - 74)
Erection of golf course clubhouse and ancillary facilities, golf cart store and car
parking area, together with repositioned internal access roads, landscaping and
SuDs. (F/20/88655)

13.

Planning Application - 63 High Street, Botley, Southampton, SO30 2ES
75 - 80)

(Pages

Single storey side extension. (H/20/88887)
14.

Planning Application - 2 Fairlie Close, Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 4WQ
(Pages 81 - 88)
Construction of a Victorian Greenhouse. (H/20/89080)

15.

Planning Appeals
The Head of Legal Services to report:(a)

that the following appeals have been dismissed:Wildgrounds, Brook Lane, Botley SO30 2ER
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission to replace the
existing dwelling of ‘Wildgrounds’ with 2 dwellings. The proposal additionally
seeks to demolish the agricultural barns which are located to the rear of the
dwelling. (F/20/87263)
Croft Farm, Winchester Road, Southampton SO32 2BX
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the erection
of a detached bungalow. (F/19/86814)
Unit 3, Lankester House, 1 Freegrounds Road, Hedge End, Southampton
SO30 0HG
Appeal against the Council’s refusal of planning permission for the prior

3

approval for change of use for A1 (retail) to A3 (restaurants and cafes)
without complying with a condition attached to planning permission Ref
J/17/80081, dated 11 April 2017. (X/19/86760)
DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Monday, 8 March 2021 at 7:00 pm
Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s
happening in the Borough. Simply select your topics and we will send you email
updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling,
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews

4

Agenda Item 3
1
HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Monday, 2 November 2020 (7:00 pm – 8:36 pm)
PRESENT:
Councillor Garton (Chair); Councillors Asman, Allingham, Corben, Gomer,
House, Jurd, Kyrle, Pretty, Tennent, Trace and Bearder
________________________________________
RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)
76.

PUBLIC PARTICIPATION
There was no public participation on this occasion.

77.

MINUTES
RESOLVED That the Minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2020 be
confirmed and signed by the Chair as a correct record.

78.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
Councillor Kyrle declared a personal interest in Item 10 as the applicant is
known to him.

79.

CHAIR'S REPORT
Wildern Community Management Committee
The Chair reported that the first virtual meeting of the Wildern
Management Committee was held on 6 October 2020. The sale of gym
memberships was above target for August and September and that
swimming lessons in the Learner Pool were to re-commence. The D.@rt
Centre staff had also reintroduced activities on site but with a reduced
capacity due to the current restrictions. The holiday activities programme
had been well received and it was hoped that the Berry Theatre might reopen early next year. Thanks were given to everyone at Wildern for
everything that had been done to support the community and the
residents.
Community Grants
Applications for community grants were now being invited until 30
November. The grants panel will meet after this date to make
recommendations which will be presented to this Committee for approval
in January 2021. It has also been agreed that the Panel will review any

5

2
Covid related applications outside this time period. Applications for the
HEWEB youth grants will be available in January 2021.
Hatch Farm Play Area
The Chair visited the Hatch Farm play area with Councillor Rick
MacDonald, Chair of West End Parish Council on the opening day. The
play area includes many different features and has since proved to be very
popular with local children. The developer provided the funding for this
facility and it was project managed by the Borough Council. Benches will
be installed once the Covid social distancing restrictions are removed.
Green Flag for Itchen Valley Country Park
The team at Itchen Valley Country Park has successfully gained another
Green Flag. This represents a tremendous achievement as the Park
continues to be managed and maintained to a high standard.
Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel
The Ageas Bowl Liaison Panel meeting had been cancelled this year.
Activities have been limited and restricted at the Ageas Bowl due to Covid.
80.

LOCAL AREA MANAGER'S REPORT
Friday Night Football
The Local Area Manager reported that Friday Night Football was planned
to return on 6 November at the Recreation Ground in Botley. However,
given the recent announcement by the Prime Minister it is thought highly
unlikely that these sessions will restart on Friday. Final confirmation was
awaited.
Localised flooding
An important meeting had been arranged between the Environment
Agency, Southern Water, Hampshire County Council and Eastleigh
Borough Council. There had been many reports of flooding in the local
area and these will be discussed to agree an action plan which will identify
which partners are responsible. This continues the joint working which has
been successful in the last 2 years.
Snowdrop Place, Hedge End
It was understood that the construction of the care home named Snowdrop
Place in Pavilion Road, is nearly complete. The owners, Barchester
Healthcare, hope to open the doors in early 2021.This home will provide

6

3
purpose built residential care, specialising in 24-hour dementia care for
older people.
This Committee approved the planning application and one of the
developer’s contributions will be towards a public art project which will be
designed in consultation with the care home’s Manager.
Boorley Park
The order for the play area had been placed. The winning design was the
one that the pupils from the Boorley Park School voted for. Final
confirmation had yet to be received but it is hoped the play area would be
ready to use in January given the ground conditions. This will also depend
on the availability of the contractor and the effect of the new restrictions.
Traffic Regulation Orders (TROs)
The Committee had recently approved a series of Traffic Regulation
Orders and these came into effect on 26 October. In addition, the Midlands
Estate TRO had been implemented and final signage for the TRO at
Cheltenham Gardens had now been approved.
81.

FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT REPORT
The Committee considered a report by the Local Area Manager (Agenda
Item 7) setting out recommendations for expenditure from the Committee’s
revenue budget and developer contributions.
RESOLVED –
That the Committee:
(1) Approves expenditure of up to £6,500 from its revenue and
reserves budgets for the outdoor covered seating at Itchen
Valley Country Park;
(2) Approves the freezing of fees and charges for Itchen Valley
Country Park for 2021;
(3) Allocates the developers contributions of £7,039.18 to Hedge
End Town Council for vehicular access works at St. John’s
Recreation Ground;
(4) Allocates the developer contribution of up to £5,000 to Wildern
Academy Trust for the upgrade of ancillary rooms at Wildern
Leisure Centre;
(5) Approves expenditure of £680 from its revenue budget for 2
litter bins at Boorley Green;
(6) Approves expenditure of up to £2,000 for improved signage for
cycling in Wildern Lane; and

7

4
(7) Allocates the developer contribution of £1,255 to commission a
study into the flooding issues at Telegraph Woods, West End.

82.

PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES
A short pre-recorded presentation was given on guidelines that had to be
taken into account when determining planning applications; in particular
the issues that could, and could not, be taken into account. This was set
against the broader policy framework.

83.

PLANNING APPLICATION - LAND TO THE SOUTH OF MADDOXFORD
LANE AND WEST OF WESTFIELD, BOORLEY GREEN, BOTLEY, SO32
2DB - F/19/85178
The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing
and Development (Agenda item 9) concerning an application for the
construction of 92 dwellings; the creation of new vehicular access with
footways from Maddoxford Lane; provision of informal and formal open
space, together with associated highways, landscape, and earth works
and level changes, foul and surface water drainage facilities, utilities
provision and other associated and necessary infrastructure. (Ref:
F/19/85178).
The Committee was advised that:
Report Updates
Ecology Officer – Some issues remain re: drainage, landscaping and the
CEMP but these could be controlled by condition so no objection subject
to conditions.
Amended recommendation
The recommendation is for the application to be refused for the reasons
set out in the agenda, subject to an amendment to the Note to Applicant
which should be amended to include reference to the fact that the
application was refused following assessment of the plans listed in the
latest drawing register.
RESOLVED That permission be REFUSED for the reasons set out in the agenda
subject to the amendments set out above.
[NOTES: (A) A local resident and a Botley Parish Councillor spoke
live, and one written statement was submitted in objection to the
planning application, citing concerns of increased traffic, access
routes for construction traffic and safety. (B) A written statement was
submitted on behalf of the applicant stating the scheme is of high
quality and provides homes for the local area.]

8

5

84.

PLANNING APPLICATION - 33 CRANBOURNE PARK, HEDGE END,
SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 0NX - H/20/88566
The Committee considered the report of the Lead Specialist for Housing
and Development (Agenda item 10) concerning an application for the
demolition of existing garden wall and erection of 1.8m high fence with
gate access to the rear. (Ref: H/20/88566).
Councillor Kyrle declared a personal interest in this item and was not
present for the duration.
RESOLVED That permission be PERMITTED, as set out in the Committee report.
[NOTE: The applicant submitted a written statement in support of the
application stating the reasoning for the proposed works.]
M6661

9

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Monday, 25 January 2021
FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT
Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Committee approves
(1)

three community grants to local organisations as stated totalling £1,500;

(2)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £25,809 for the upgrades at West
End Parish Centre;

(3)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £25,000 for the automation of the
village clock and upgrades to the clock tower in Botley;

(4)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £22,320 for upgrades to the
Drummond Centre in Hedge End;

(5)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £13,132 for toilet upgrades at either
the Old School House or the Town Centre in Hedge End;

(6)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £20,673 for upgrades to the play
area at Moorgreen Recreation Ground;

(7)

the allocation of the developer’s contribution of £41,125 for upgrades to the play
area at Botley Recreation Ground;

(8)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £33,544 for upgrades to the
outdoor recreation facilities at Turnpike Way Recreation Ground;

(9)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £47,242 for the public art project at
Hatch Farm;

(10)

the allocation of the developers’ contributions of £10,554 for upgrades to the
pathways at Pudbrook open space in Botley;

(11)

the allocation and receipt of funding from the Solent Recreation Mitigation
Partnership (Bird Aware Solent) of £132,300 for the upgrade of existing paths at
Itchen Valley Country Park subject to final confirmation;

(12)

notes the expenditure of £1,920 for 6 litter bins from this Committee’s revenue
budget;

(13)

the expenditure of £2,390 for a speed indicator device from this Committee’s

11

reserves; and
(14)

the expenditure of up to £1,300 per year for the relocation of the speed indicator
device from this Committee’s revenue budget.

Summary
This report highlights projects which have been previously identified in this Committee’s
Community Investment Programme or form part of the Committee’s annual community
grants process. The Clerks of Hedge End Town Council and the Parish Councils at Botley
and West End have also been consulted to ensure that all of the projects reflect current
local need.
External funding from Bird Aware Solent is also detailed within the report and is to be
considered by the Committee with reference to the upgrading of pathways at Itchen Valley
Country Park.
Statutory Powers
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority’s general power of
competence, including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or
present in its area

Strategic Implications
1.

This report’s recommendations realise many of the Council’s objectives and
the corporate aim of “Supporting Communities and Improving Lives.” The
community grants enable people to have healthier lifestyles; the upgrading of
local facilities such as community centres and play areas will mean that
activities can take place which will also enhance residents’ health and wellbeing not just from a physical point of view but also socially. The Pudbrook
and Itchen Valley Country Park projects along with the provision of litter bins
will enhance the environment in line with the objective of an Excellent
Environment for All. Finally, the principles of Local First are enhanced as all of
the projects are needed locally.

Community Grants

12

2.

The Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Community Grants
application process has been slightly different this year as it has involved
online applications only. Also due to Covid, many community groups have
been unable to meet or have sadly disbanded. Consequently this year’s
applications were reduced from 21 to 12 compared to the previous year.

3.

The HEWEB Community Grants Panel comprising Councillors Garton,
Gomer, Jurd and Trace reviewed these applications against agreed criteria.
However for the majority of the applications, the Panel was unsure as to
Eastleigh Borough Council

whether the activities would be taking place due to Covid restrictions. This
mainly related to activities at Wildern School and the Botley Floral Club. The
Assistant Local Area Manager was asked to contact these organisations to
gain further information for the Panel.
4.

The Committee was keen not to delay funding for outdoor activities and
approved the award of £500 each to the West End Garden and Allotment
Association for upgrades to their huts and the purchase of replacement scales
and to the QE2 Activity Centre as a contribution towards the purchase of a
wheelchair accessible motorboat for use on the River Hamble. £500 was also
awarded to Wildern Leisure Centre for top up swimming lessons for primary
school pupils who need extra support to achieve the Key Stage 2 requirement
of being able to swim 25 metres. These lessons will go ahead once the
current restrictions are lifted.

5.

Given the reduced number of applications, the Panel agreed that one off
“bounce back” grants would be made available to help local groups get back
on their feet. These would be advertised via the Council’s website, the Town
and Parish Clerks and contact would be made with previous applicants. The
closing date is 25 January 2021 and a further update will be brought to the
March Committee.

Community Infrastructure Projects
6.

7.

In discussion with the Parish Clerk at West End, the most urgent community
infrastructure project concerns the Parish Centre, currently registered as
WE.1 in this Committee’s Community Investment Programme (CIP) 2019 2024 and is recorded as a high priority. Upgrades to the roof, fire doors and
car park are required and therefore it is proposed that the following
developers’ contributions are allocated to provide this grant funding to the
Parish Council: DCF/14/74943/Dog Kennel Farm and Land
adj Telegraph Road, West End Receipt
date:12/06/2018

£19,613

DCF/14/74943/Dog Kennel Farm and Land
adj Telegraph Road, West End Receipt
date:15/01/2019

£2,304

F/14/74943MSP Dog Kennel Farm & Land
adj Telegraph Hill, West End Receipt
Date:11/03/2020

£3,892

In Botley, the Parish Council has had a long-term aspiration of automating the
operation of the village clock and upgrading the clock tower. These are both in
the ownership of the Parish Council with the remainder of the Market Hall
building being run by a charitable association. This project is registered as B.1
in this Committee’s CIP and is a high priority.
Eastleigh Borough Council

13

8.

The Parish Clerk has received some quotes for these works and in addition
planning consent may be needed so it is recommended that the following
contributions amounting to £25,000 are allocated to provide this grant funding
for the Parish Council as follows:
DCC/13/72630 Mr A Jennings, Botleigh Institute Building,
Church Lane, Botley Receipt Date:01/08/2013
DCC/14/74099 First Wessex, land adj 65 High Street, Botley
Receipt Date:26/06/2014
DCC/15/76808 J A Appleby, Millstream House, Donkey Lane,
Botley Receipt Date:22/12/2015
DCC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, re Winchester Street,
Botley Receipt Date:27/05/2016
DCC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, re Winchester Street,
Botley Receipt Date:30/09/2016 PART
DCF/04/52650 Roxan Construction Re: Josephines, Grange
Road, Hedge End Receipt Date:25/02/2005
DCF/12/71186 Burton Property Ltd, Thaxted, Winchester Road,
Botley Receipt Date:08/10/2013
DCF/13/72542 Mr M Mead, Brooklands, High Street, Botley
Receipt Date:30/07/2013
DCF/14/74088 First Wessex. Garage Court r/o 2-12 & 4
Mortimer Road, Botley Receipt Date:24/04/2014

9.

£1,384
£5,385
£1,988
£1,074
£3,201
£2,794
£4,121

£22,320

There are two toilet projects within the Town Centre and the Old School
House in Hedge End, HE.21 and HE.6 on the Committee’s CIP list, which
deserve equal consideration. The Town Clerk has received quotations for both
projects and will be seeking guidance from the Town Council as to which
project should be prioritised. It is therefore proposed that the Committee’s
remaining community infrastructure developer’s contribution of £13,132 is
allocated for either project at the Town Council’s discretion: DCV/11/68617/ Foreman Homes, Kings
Copse School, Hedge End. Receipt
date:31/05/2013

14

£1,865

Improvements to the Town Council’s Drummond Centre in Hedge End have
been a longstanding priority for the Committee especially with reference to the
flooring and windows. These projects are included under HE.4 in the
Committee’s CIP priorities. A developer’s contribution of £2,148 for the
flooring has been previously allocated and it is proposed that the following
developers’ contribution is used as grant funding towards these projects:
DCF/12/71663/ Town Quay
Developments, Wildern Mill,
Charles Watts Way, Hedge End.
Receipt date: 26/04/2014

10.

£3,188

Eastleigh Borough Council

£13,132

Play Areas
11.

A survey of play areas within Hedge End, West End and Botley is about to
commence as many existing play areas will require replacement within the
next few years. There are limited developers’ contributions available now and
so different forms of funding will have to be found. In the meantime, in
conversation with the Clerks, it is recommended that the following developers’
contributions are allocated to the upgrade of the play areas at Moorgreen
Recreation Ground, Botley Recreation Ground and Turnpike Way. (All of
these play areas are included in the Committee’s CIP priorities). Also
regarding Turnpike Way, part of this funding could be used for outdoor
recreation.
MOORGREEN RECREATION GROUND
OSF/08/63467Autovue, 86 Chalk Hill, West
End Receipt Date:29/01/2016
OSF/14/74943Dog Kennel Farm & Land adj
Telegraph Road, West End Receipt
Date:12/06/2018
OSF/14/74943MSP Dog Kennel Farm &
Land adj Telegraph Hill, West End Receipt
Date:15/01/2019
F/14/74943MSP Capital, Dog Kennel Farm &
Land adj Telegraph Hill, West End Receipt
Date:11/03/2020

BOTLEY RECREATION GROUND
OSC/13/72630 Mr A Jennings, Botleigh Institute
Building, Church Lane, Botley Receipt Date:01/08/2013
OSC/14/74099 First Wessex, land adj 65 High Street,
Botley Receipt Date:26/06/2014
OSC/15/76808 J A Appleby, Millstream House, Donkey
Lane, Botley Receipt Date:22/12/2015
OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, 21 Winchester
Street, Botley Receipt Date:03/02/2017
OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, 21 Winchester
Street, Botley Receipt Date:05/06/2017
OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, re Winchester
Street, Botley Receipt Date:27/05/2016
OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property, re Winchester
Street, Botley Receipt Date:30/09/2016
OSF/12/71186 Burton Property Ltd, Thaxted,
Winchester Road, Botley Receipt Date:08/10/2013

Eastleigh Borough Council

£7,443

£10,500

£591

£2,139

£1,708
£980
£760
£7,988
£7,953
£8,143
£8,080
£1,714

15

OSF/13/72542 Mr M Mead, Brooklands, High Street, Botley
Receipt Date:30/07/2013
OSF/14/74088 First Wessex. Garage Court r/o 2-12 & 4
Mortimer Road, Botley Receipt Date:24/04/2014

£1,535
£2,264

TURNPIKE WAY
OSF/15/76447 Kingsgate, Home Farm, St.
John’s Road, Hedge End, Receipt date:
11/01/2019

£3,166

OSF/15/76447 Kingsgate, Home Farm, St.
John’s Road, Hedge End, Receipt date:
24/08/2018

£6,351

OSF/15/76447 Kingsgate, Home Farm, St.
John’s Road, Hedge End, Receipt
date:25/03/2019

£3,229

F/17/80651 Waylands Place/Peewit Hill
Close, Hedge End (St. John’s Phase 2)

£20,798

Public Art at Hatch Farm
12.

16

The Council’s Public Art Officer has drafted a Project Initiation Document for
the Hatch Farm public art project. The Hatch Farm Working Group considered
this document at its meeting on 16 December 2020. The Group welcomed the
ideas that were suggested and approved the Document in principle. The
developers’ contributions from the Hatch Farm development amount to
£41,040 and the Group asked the Local Area Manager to review any other
unallocated contributions to determine whether these could be used for this
project. As a result, it is recommended that the following contributions are
formally allocated to this project totalling £47,242: DCF/15/77718 Radian, Land at Hatch
Farm, West End, Receipt date:
17/04/2019

£10,299

DCF/15/77718 Radian, Land at Hatch
Farm, West End, Receipt date:08/08/2018

£20,603

DCF/15/77718 Radian, Land at Hatch
Farm, West End, Receipt date:27/09/17

£10,138

DCF/16/98228 John Lewis re: Hamilton
House, Mansbridge Road, West End,
Receipt date: 25/08/2017

£6,202

Eastleigh Borough Council

Pudbrook
13.

Owned by Botley Parish Council, Pudbrook is a well-used public open space
adjacent to one of the tributaries of the River Hamble in Botley. It includes
woods, meadows, a tidal stream and areas of geological and wildlife interest.

14.

The pathways running through the site especially from Cheping Gardens to
Lovers Lane are being eroded and therefore it is proposed that the following
developers’ contributions totalling £10,554.91 are allocated as grant funding
towards upgrading these pathways as follows:
OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property,
21 Winchester Street, Botley Receipt
Date:03/02/2017

£2,621

OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property,
21 Winchester Street, Botley Receipt
Date:05/06/2017

£2,610

OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property,
re Winchester Street, Botley Receipt
Date:27/05/2016

£2,672

OSC/15/77172 Ibex Land & Property,
re Winchester Street, Botley Receipt
Date:30/09/2016

£2,651

Itchen Valley Country Park – Footpath improvements
15.

The Solent is a Special Protection Area (SPA) to safeguard up to 125,000
wintering birds, who fly to the Solent from as far as the Arctic. With more
people using the coast for recreational purposes due to increases in
residential development, these birds will be potentially disturbed when they
need to be able to feed and rest in order to survive the Winter and to be able
to fly back to their Summer breeding habitats.

16.

Developers’ contributions are allocated to support the Solent Recreation
Mitigation Strategy. The Solent Recreation Mitigation Partnership, coordinates this funding, using the brand name for this project of Bird Aware
Solent. The Partnership is made up of local councils including Eastleigh,
Natural England and conservation organisations. Partners can apply for
funding if they can demonstrate that their projects mitigate the effects of these
increased recreational pressures on the SPA arising from new developments
in the Solent.

17.

The proposed project at Itchen Valley Country Park (IVCP) is to upgrade just
over two kilometres of existing paths. These are unusable in the wetter
months. The aim is to upgrade the paths so that visitors can walk all year
round at the Country Park, thereby reducing the number of people and dogs
Eastleigh Borough Council

17

using the coast during the Winter especially when the birds are at their most
vulnerable.
18.

This proposal will result in approximately 4.5 kilometres of all year-round
walking routes. There is no conflict with the masterplan work that is currently
being undertaken for IVCP.

19.

Bird Aware Solent has informed the Council that it has been successful in
applying for funding and an award of £132,300 has been made subject to final
ratification at the Partnership’s Board meeting in January.

20.

The funding must be spent on this project during the next financial year, i.e.,
April 2021 – March 2022. The Country Parks Manager has confirmed that this
is achievable.

21.

Councillors should also be aware that there is a previously allocated
developer’s contribution of £13,664 which can be added to this project as it
involves part of the route to be upgraded.

22.

The Committee is therefore requested to approve the allocation and receipt of
this funding subject to final confirmation from the Partnership and agreement
on final terms and conditions.

Litter Bins
23.

The Committee is requested to note the purchase of six litter bins totalling
£1,920 for the Turnpike Way Recreation Ground/Wildern Nature Reserve and
Mallett Close near to the train station footpath following requests from
residents, the Town Council and voluntary groups.

Speed Indicator Device

18

24.

Councillors will recall that this Committee approved expenditure of £1,890 last
year towards the purchase of a speed indicator device (SID). At the time it
was unclear whether the other Local Area Committees would approve funding
which would have enabled the purchase of three SIDs to add to the two
devices which were already owned by the Council.

25.

It has now been confirmed that all of the Committees did contribute and
consequently, there are five SIDs, one per area and the cost per area was
reduced to £1,605, a saving of £285 for this Committee.

26.

These devices provide improved data and have better graphics using the
“green smiley” or “red angry” faces dependent on whether the speed limit is
observed or not.

27.

It is now proposed that another SID is purchased exclusively for the HEWEB
area to provide greater coverage, consistency and reliability when compared
with the old speed limit reminders This could potentially cover another 26
locations on a fortnightly basis per year. The cost is £50 per location resulting

Eastleigh Borough Council

in an annual cost of £1,300 which can be afforded within this Committee’s
revenue budget.
28.

The one-off cost for the outright purchase of the SID is £2,675 minus the
saving of £285 which equates to £2,390. This can be afforded from this
Committee’s reserves.

Financial Implications
29.

All of the funding proposed within the recommendations is affordable mainly
through the allocation of developers’ contributions or from this Committee’s
revenue budgets and reserves. It is understood that the funding from Bird
Aware Solent will be available in April 2021.

Risk Assessment
30.

A significant number of these projects will be carried out by the Town and
Parish Councils within HEWEB. Therefore there is no direct risk to the
Borough Council if the projects exceed their budgets. If this funding is not
allocated, the majority of these projects will not go ahead due to the financial
circumstances of these councils as a result of Covid. Similarly the award of
the community grants will assist these groups with their viability. The Hatch
Farm Working Group will oversee the expenditure on the public art project
along with the Council’s Community Projects Board which will receive monthly
highlight reports from the Project Manager. The Bird Aware funding is subject
to final terms and conditions which must be accepted by the IVCP Programme
Board. The Committee should be aware that the developer’s contribution for
part of the Turnpike Way outdoor facilities funding for £20,798 has yet to be
received by the Council. This forward funding is at risk if the development
does not proceed.

Equality and Diversity Implications
31.

As previously stated, the majority of the funding is in the form of a grant to the
Town and Parish Councils or external voluntary organisations. Therefore it is
the responsibility of these organisations to ensure that any Equality and
Diversity implications are assessed by themselves.

32.

The Council’s directly managed projects are the public art project at Hatch
Farm and the pathways’ upgrade at IVCP. The public art project is at the
concept stage and is subject to the Council’s internal project management
processes which will address any equality and diversity implications once the
projects are approved. The pathways’ project focusses on accessibility for all
and an Equality Impact Assessment will be carried out by the Country Parks
Manager once terms and conditions have been finalised with Bird Aware
Solent.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
33.

None of the recommendations should lead to an increase in Greenhouse
Gas/CO2 or damage to ecology and the environment. In fact the reverse will
Eastleigh Borough Council

19

certainly be true as the projects at IVCP and Pudbrook are designed to protect
the environment and ecology. They also involve changing people’s patterns of
behaviour.
34.

The automation of the clock in Botley will reduce the number of maintenance
visits and the upgrades to local facilities will reduce the need to travel further
afield.

35.

The provision of litter bins especially around the nature reserve in Hedge End,
will assist with maintaining a clean environment.

36.

Upgraded speed limit reminders across the HEWEB area will hopefully reduce
speeding traffic and change motorists’ behaviour.

Conclusion
37.

The Committee is requested to approve the recommendations which relate to
funding for local projects within the HEWEB area.

JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER
Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

02 January 2021
Julia Birt
023 8068 8437
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
None

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Hedge End, West End and Botley Community Investment Programme Priorities
2019-24

20

Eastleigh Borough Council

Agenda Item 8
HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA COMMITTEE
Monday, 25 January 2021
HEDGE END, WEST END AND BOTLEY LOCAL AREA ACTION
PLAN 2021/22
Report of the Local Area Manager

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Committee:
(1)

note the progress on identified projects and priorities during 2020; and

(2)

approve the Hedge End, West End and Botley (HEWEB) Local Area Action
Plan 2021/22 shown in Appendix Two for adoption and publication.

Summary
This report presents updates and priorities for the coming year for the Local Area
Committee. The new Local Area Action Plan for 2021/22 is presented to the Committee
for its approval.
Statutory Powers
Section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 i.e. the Local Authority's general power of competence,
including power to act for the benefit of its area or persons resident or present in its area.

Strategic Implications
1.

This report seeks to address the key objectives in the Corporate Plan and is in
line with the Local First project which focuses on local need and local
priorities. It is aligned with the Council’s aim of “Supporting Communities and
Improving Lives.”

Introduction
2.

The Council has agreed a set of Borough-wide objectives to improve the
quality of life for all. These are set out in the Corporate Plan 2015-25. The
Council also seeks to enable decisions to be made at the most appropriate
local level, most notably through the five Local Area Committees but also
through our town and parish councils and other more local partnerships.

21

3.

This Committee has approved a Community Investment Programme (CIP) for
2019 – 2024, which prioritises local projects and initiatives. The CIP is devised
in conjunction with the Town Council and the Parish Councils. It is used to
negotiate Section 106 contributions from developers which usually form the
majority of the funds required. These funds often need to be pooled from
several developments over several years in order to achieve sufficient funding
for the project.

4.

The Local Area Action Plan (LAAP) is used to determine budgets and staff
resources as part of the Council’s annual business planning cycle. It also
highlights the key local partnerships within the local area as well as outlining
the roles of the Committee and Local Area Manager.

Progress in 2020
5.

A summary review of progress on this Committee’s current LAAP for 2020/21
is contained within Appendix One of this report. Whilst the effects of the Covid
restrictions are evident for some projects, there has been some encouraging
progress, most notably with the completion of the Wildern swimming pool roof
and spectator seating project.

6.

Local councillors also wish to express their thanks and admiration for the work
that has been undertaken by volunteers in response to the Covid crisis.

7.

The proposed Hedge End West End and Botley (HEWEB) Local Area Action
Plan for 2021/22 is based on the review in Appendix One. Also two new
projects associated with climate change have been added along with the
public art projects at Snowdrop Place care home in Hedge End and at Hatch
Farm, West End. It is hoped that despite the recent lockdown, progress can
be made on all of the projects in the forthcoming year.

8.

Local councillors have been consulted on this updated Plan and it is now
recommended that the HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2021/22 is approved
for adoption and publication as shown in Appendix Two.

Financial Implications
9.

There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations.
Funding for projects is approved via separate reports usually to this
Committee or the Council’s Cabinet.

Risk Assessment
10.

The allocation of resources and delivery of the projects would be adversely
affected without the Plan.

Equality and Diversity Implications
11.

22

The Equality Act is relevant to the decision in this report. The existing projects
have been previously assessed. For example, the design of the community
facilities at Boorley Park allows for accessibility and the community
Eastleigh Borough Council

agreements will ensure that a broad programme of activities is available for all
sections of society to enjoy. The four new projects as previously described are
at the concept stage and all will be assessed in terms of the equality and
diversity implications as part of the Council’s Project Management process
which will be approved by the relevant Project Board.

12.

Climate Change and Environmental Implications
Apart from supporting climate change initiatives, the Plan also aims to change
residents’ behaviour through projects such as the green routes public art and
the Itchen Valley master plan will incorporate green initiatives such as
upgrading pathways, tree and biodiversity enhancements. The major
developments all have BREEAM requirements and align to internal and
statutory external regulations to protect and enhance the environment.

Conclusion
13.

The report presents the draft HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2021/22 as
shown in Appendix Two for approval.
JULIA BIRT
LOCAL AREA MANAGER

Date:
Contact Officer:
Tel No:
e-mail:
Appendices Attached:

05 January 2021
Julia Birt
023 8068 8437
julia.birt@eastleigh.gov.uk
Two

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D
The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.
Background Papers –
Eastleigh Borough Council Corporate Plan 2015-25
HEWEB Local Area Action Plan for 2020/21
.

Eastleigh Borough Council

23

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix One - HEWEB Local Area Action Plan 2020/21 progress update
PROJECT/PRIORITY
Major planning applications – maximising
community benefit
Boorley Park

Boorley Gardens
Woodhouse Lane

Winchester Street
St. John’s Phase 1 and Phase 2, Hedge End

Hatch Farm

OTHER PROJECTS
Itchen Valley Country Park - masterplan

Wildern swimming pool roof/spectator seating
Former Budgen’s site, Hedge End
PUBLIC ART PROJECTS
Berry Theatre entrance gates

Welcome to West End signage (Heritage
Markers)

Green routes, Hedge End

PROGRESS UPDATE (forecasts may change due
to Covid restrictions)

Work is due to start on the play area in January
subject to the transfer of land. The transfer of
the playing pitches to the Borough Council is also
imminent. Covid and contractual issues have
slowed down the transfer of the community
centre and sports pavilion.
Drainage works have started on site.
Planning applications for the community use
grass pitches and additional sports facilities have
been submitted. Subject to planning permission
it is hoped that work can commence on the grass
pitches in the Summer.
The Community Use Agreement is close to
completion with Wildern Academy Trust.
The Section 106 agreement is near to completion
subject to councillors’ final approval.
Following consultation with the steering group
and the Town Council, the play trail design at
Hellyar Rise is out to consultation with
construction planned for Spring 2021.
The play area was completed in September. A
feasibility study for the skate park is underway
and consultation with residents and young
people will hopefully commence in early 2021.
Consultants have been appointed for the
masterplan work and a priority list of projects is
near to completion for the Committee’s
consideration.
COMPLETED
Demolition of the old building completed.
Successful launch of outdoor markets.
Due to Covid, the artist’s contractors could not
deliver the installation. Alternative arrangements
are being made with a projected completion
date of Autumn 2021.
A late change to two of the historical figures
delayed this project. Subject to receipt of a
licence from Hampshire County Council, this
project will be completed by Spring/Summer
2021
The fabrication of the design was delayed by the
furloughing of the contractors’ staff. However
works recommenced and this project is
forecasted to conclude in Summer 2021

25

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Cllr Cynthia Garton - Local Area Chair

Hedge End,
West End & Botley (HEWEB)

cynthia.garton@eastleigh.gov.uk

Local Area Action Plan
2021/22

Hiltingbury
Chandler’s
Ford
Bishopstoke
Horton
Heath

Eastleigh

Fair
Oak

West
End
Hedge
End
Botley

Responsibilities of the
Local Area Committee
▶ Champion the local area
▶ Decide local priorities
▶ Manage local budgets
▶ Determine local levels of council services such
as Streetscene and traffic management
▶ Work with the local community
▶ Decide planning applications

Responsibilities of the
Local Area Manager
▶ Act as a link between the Council and
local people

Key Projects & Priorities
Bursledon

▶ Major planning applications
- maximise community benefit
from current sites at Boorley
Park, Boorley Gardens,
Woodhouse Lane, Winchester
Street, St. John’s Phase 1 and
2, Hedge End and Hatch Farm

▶ Public art at the Berry Theatre
entrance; West End heritage
markers and green routes in
Hedge End

▶ Itchen Valley Country Park produce master plan for Phase
2 onwards

▶ Climate Change initiatives

▶ Snowdrop Place, Hedge End –
Public Art

▶ Former Budgens’ site,
Hedge End

- Telegraph Woods
- Land around Wildern Nature
Reserve

▶ Work with the Council to improve local
services and to ensure value for money
▶ Identify local needs and priorities
▶ Work closely with Town and Parish Councils,
schools and community groups

27

Siobhan Strand - Assistant Local Area Manager

siobhan.strand@eastleigh.gov.uk
023 8068 8428

Hamblele-Rice

Key Partnerships
▶ Hedge End Town Council
▶ West End Parish Council
▶ Botley Parish Council
▶ Hampshire County Council

▶ Support local councillors
▶ Manage the local revenue budget and the
capital programme/major projects

Netley

Council Services - Local Variations

▶ Boorley Green Working
Group including Community
Development Officer
▶ Wildern Academy Trust

▶ Country Parks, Land
Management and Corporate
Communications – Itchen
Valley Country Park

▶ Direct Services and Locality
Team – car parks at Itchen
Valley Country Park and Hedge
End Train Station

▶ HEWEB Community Schools
Network

▶ Direct Services and Corporate
Communications - sponsored
roundabouts

▶ Support Services - Community
and Youth Grants

▶ HEWEB Youth Partnership

▶ Hampshire Cricket in the
Community
▶ HEWEB Business Group

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday
25 January 2021
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

F/20/89127
Kitty Budden
28/10/2020
Hedge End Retail Park, Tollbar Way, Hedge End, SO30
2UH
c/o Agent
Removal of existing Oak tree T4 and provision of hard and
soft landscaping scheme including new tree planting,
amenity space and associated development.

Recommendation:
PERMIT, subject to conditions
___________________________________________________________________
CONDITIONS AND REASONS:
1) The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years
from the date of this decision. Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance
with the following plans numbered: PL_2001 Rev A, 482.11 Rev C
(Sheet 1 of 2), 482.11 Rev A (Sheet 2 of 2). Reason: For the
avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.
3) No development shall start until details and samples (if required) of the
materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted have been submitted to and approved in
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be
carried out in accordance with the approved details. Reason: To
ensure a satisfactory visual appearance in the interest of the amenities
of the area.
4) No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take
place on site until a detailed arboricultural method statement and tree
protection plan, as per British Standard 5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to
Design, Demolition and Construction – Recommendations), are
submitted and approved by the LPA. The approved arboricultural
documents must be adhered to in full and may only be modified subject
to written agreement from the LPA. Reason: To retain and protect the
existing mature Oak trees to be retained within the application site
which form an important part of the amenity of the locality.
5) No construction or demolition work shall start until a Method Statement
has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning

29

Authority. Demolition and construction work shall only take place in
accordance with the approved method statement which shall include:
a) location of temporary site buildings, compounds, construction
material, and plant storage areas used during demolition and
construction;
b) arrangements for the routing/ turning of lorries and details for
construction traffic access to the site;
c) the arrangements for deliveries associated with all construction
works, loading/ unloading of plant & materials and restoration of any
damage to the highway.
d) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
e) measures to prevent mud and dust on the highway during
construction;
f) protection of pedestrian routes during construction;
Reason: To limit the impact the development has on the amenity of the
locality.
6) For a period of no less than 5 years after planting, any trees or plants
which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or defective,
shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of
the same species, size and number as originally approved in the
landscaping scheme. Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of
the locality.
7) Within three months of the date of this permission, a long-term tree
management plan for the 13 no. retained mature Oak trees within this
area with particular reference to their historic and ecological value, shall
be submitted to, and approved in writing by, the LPA. Reason: To
ensure appropriate long-term management and protection of the
important Oak trees.
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council
takes a positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as
to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.

Report:
1. This application has been referred to Committee because of the level of
public interest in the proposed works as set out in this application and
the associated tree works application (T/20/89128).
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
2. The site comprises part of the forecourt of the former Homebase store
located within the retail park known as Hedge End Retail Park.

30

3. The land is situated in front of the front elevation of the former
Homebase store and to the west of the side elevation of the Currys PC
World unit (one of two other units within the retail park). It contains 14
Oak trees and associated planting within a raised landscape area,
which is surrounded by a pedestrian walkway. To the south and west
of the land is the existing car parking separated from the walkway by
bollards. This area is visually very prominent within the site and is in
line of sight upon turning onto the access road to the retail park.
4. The trees were originally part of a larger group of trees in the centre of
the development site which were kept when the retail park was first
developed. The buildings were designed to ensure their continued
retention, with the building line staggered to provide space for the trees.
5. The Homebase unit has been empty since Homebase vacated the site
in December 2018 and has been subject to anti-social behaviour and
vandalism. The building was the subject of a separate application to
extend and alter the building to create two smaller retail units (planning
ref. F/19/87100). This scheme was determined by the Local Area
Committee on 15th June 2020 and planning permission was issued on
27th August 2020. Associated with this permitted application was an
application for tree and landscape works (planning ref. F/19/87101)
which was resolved to be refused at the same committee meeting.
6. Aside from the trees that are the subject of this application, there is
relatively little tree planting within the car parking area, with the majority
of dense tree cover around the curtilage of the retail park. A short line
of trees is present within the site to the north of Pets at Home (a recent
addition to the retail park located to the south of the original buildings)
and a very small number of trees within the car park in front of Currys
PC World.
7. Beyond the tree screen, Tollbar Way runs along the eastern boundary
and the M27 lies to the west. To the north beyond the service yard
(which lies behind Homebase/ Currys PC World) is Botley Road.
8. The site is located in a wider commercial/ retail area with a number of
retail parks providing a range of retail opportunities. Industrial and
employment units are also in the vicinity, located primarily along Botley
Road. While this is a heavily developed area with a prominent road
system, it is generally well tree’d with substantial mature tree screening
along Charles Watts Way and Tollbar Way and around the curtilage of
many of the retail parks. Botley Road to the north-east of the site has
significantly less tree cover which creates a notably harsher
environment.
Description of Application
9. The application proposes the removal of the protected Oak tree (T4)
and provision of hard and soft landscaping including new tree planting,

31

the creation of amenity space and associated development. This
application has arisen following discussions with the case officer and
the Council’s tree consultant, post-refusal of application F/19/87101.
10. The tree to be removed is identified as a semi-mature ‘Category C’ Oak
tree, (defined as a tree of low quality with an estimated remaining life
expectancy of at least 10 years or young trees with a stem diameter
below 150mm). The proposal for hard and soft landscaping in this area
includes new low-level planting, a bark path through the tree area with
protective knee rail around the perimeter of the trees and seating; and
insect hotels.
11. Across the wider retail park, provision is made for an additional 12 trees
to be planted, new wildflower planting, bat and bird boxes, and
deadwood loggeries, to enhance the ecological value of the site.
12. The application is accompanied by a Landscape Strategy including a
Tree Survey Report and the necessary site location plan and landscape
plans. The Preliminary Ecological Assessment submitted with the
previous application (F/19/87101) provides background ecological
information.
13. The proposal has been screened out under the Town and Country
Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations
2011 as it is not Schedule 1 or 2 type development.
14. Screening under the Habitats Directive was not required due to the
nature of the proposed development.
Relevant Planning History
15. Outline planning permission for the development of the site was
originally granted in July 1995 (planning ref. Z/33503/000/00). Condition
15 of this permission required the submission of a scheme of
landscaping to include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows to
be retained, together with measures for their protection. Reserved
Matters were approved in September 1995 (planning ref.
Z/33503/002/00).
16. In October 2016, an application for various tree works was granted
consent under reference T/16/79086 which included works to a number
of the trees that are the subject of this application, primarily to reduce
the canopy. One tree within this area was turned into a monolith
(removal of all branches to reduce a dead or dying tree back to its main
stem).
17. Of particular relevance is planning application F/19/87101 which was
resolved to be refused by the Local Area Committee on 15th June 2020
(decision issued 18th June 2020). This application proposed the

32

removal of nine of the 14 trees within the forecourt landscape area and
associated and additional landscape works.
Representations Received
18. Four representations were received in response to the Council’s
consultation, objecting to the proposals citing the following concerns:
-

Tree report states T4 is in good condition, ivy growth is a natural
occurrence;
Applicant needs to desist from making numerous repetitive applications,
until they get consent;
No grounds to destroy under local/national environmental policies;
No need to fell a healthy Oak just because it’s in the wrong place;
Mature trees should be retained as vital resource to the world;
Not comparable to replace mature Oak with new planting;
Oaks support thousands of species

19. It is also relevant that 76 representations (two duplications) have been
received in relation to the associated tree works application
(T/20/89128). While it is not entirely clear due to the general nature of
many of the comments received, it appears all representations raise
objection to the works which relate to this application.
20. Of these objections, approximately 20 refer to the loss of multiple or all
of the trees. One objector also made reference to the traffic issues
related to a foodstore occupying the site.
21. The following concerns were cited (summarised):
-

Tree works were previously refused and therefore should be refused
again;
Tree report does not recommend felling;
Can’t identify trees to be felled;
Shouldn’t cut limbs or remove ivy as natural features;
Works too extensive;
Trees should only be removed if dangerous;
Trees are protected for a reason;
Existing habitat should be protected;
Impact on ecosystem and wildlife;
Need to preserve wildlife;
The Council has declared a climate change emergency;
The previous could operate from the site, therefore why is work
needed?
Scheme can progress without manufactured natural environment;
Suggest reducing rent rather than felling tree;
Signage is required rather than felling tree;
Potential for accidental damage to trees during works;
Should stipulate any development should include a positive contribution
to the environment;

33

-

Loss of hedgerows;
Not an area where public would sit and so not necessary to create this
space;
Not necessary to fell or prune established trees purely for aesthetic
reasons;
The nature area looks lovely as it is;
Valuable stand of beautiful mature trees should be preserved rather
than sacrificed for commercial gain. Trees would be an attractive asset;
Only support increased biodiversity not isolating and destroying a
habitat;
If granted, will set an unwanted precedent and lead to future
applications to destroy those remaining;
Already too many trees/hedgerows being cut due to new smart
motorway;
Plenty of existing car parking space;
The intentional destruction of an oak tree and the transformation of the
area in its current state with hard and soft landscaping is in conflict with
Eastleigh Borough Council's Climate Change and Environmental
Emergency declaration and the urgent need to preserve biodiversity.

Consultation Responses (summarised)
22. West End Parish Council: Object on grounds of unnecessary felling,
subject to approval by the tree officer.
23. Hedge End Town Council: No Objection to the removal of the low value
Oak tree T4, however there are still concerns regarding the other trees
and would object to any damage to these subject to the usual
conditions of the tree officer. There are concerns that pathways may
cause damage to the surrounding trees.
24. Ecology: The proposals for this application as I understand them are to
remove one semi-mature oak, carry out work on other trees and
undertake landscaping works to create a “pocket park” amenity space.
The landscaping scheme applies to the wider retail park but my
comments here are focussed on the area within the redline boundary.
25. The Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) by eight associates
(December 2019) identifies the application site as containing amenity
grassland, scrub and trees. The habitats themselves are of localised
intrinsic ecological value but the lack of direct connectivity to other,
suitable habitat will be a limiting factor. The Landscape Strategy (Philip
Cave Associates, October 2020) indicates that the “pocket park” will
include a path, woodland wildflower planting and mown, amenity
grassland edges. If done sensitively, in-line with ecological
recommendations this could represent a useful resource for
biodiversity. The removal of the single, semi-mature oak is not a
constraint in terms of ecology.

34

26. The proposals as presented will not impact upon any sites designated
for their nature conservation value or protected species and is therefore
compliant with emerging Local Plan Policy DM11 (Nature
Conservation). Provided the scheme is delivered as outlined in the
Landscape Strategy and PEA and will not negatively impact existing,
retained trees I raise no objection to this application.
27. Tree Consultant: The application boundary is relatively small and
encompasses an open space to the front of existing retail units. There
are 14 individual trees within the open space, with 13 of the trees being
significant, mature specimens that pre-existed the retail development
(main group). The other tree – the subject of this application – is located
behind the main group, immediately adjacent to the retail unit.
28. No details are provided at this stage with regards to sensitive works
within the Root Protection Areas (RPAs) of the 13 retained trees. The
need for details is recognised in the Tree Survey Report in sections
5.1.3 and 6.3. The landscape proposals, as shown in the GA plan and
detailed in the landscape strategy, propose several potential harmful
activities that will require mitigation. It is common to provide a detailed
arboricultural method statement prior to commencement, and this is the
case for this site. Activities, as detailed in the landscape strategy, that
have the potential to be harmful include, but are not limited to,
installation of metal edging, benches, knee rails, litter bins and areas of
resin bound gravel.
29. T14, due to its position behind the main group, is only visible to users of
a small section of car park and the disused retail unit: it is not
significantly visible to the public realm. Further, the tree is distinct from
the main group and much younger and smaller. Its position in close
proximity to the retail unit makes it unlikely to be viable in the long term
because of future potential conflict with the structure. While any tree
loss is regrettable, the application has proposed suitable mitigation
planting numbers to compensate for the tree loss. The main group of
trees are to be retained and there should be no significant effect on the
overall visual amenity and ecosystem service provision of the site,
subject to suitable protection of the retained trees.
30. Please note that I have not commented on the landscape details – e.g.
planting specification – only on the actions that may harm the trees
through the implementation of the landscape proposals.
31. We raise no arboricultural objection to the proposal, subject to
condition.
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site
-

Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Retail/ Commercial Area
Tree Preservation Orders

35

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011)
Saved Policies:
 24.NC (Protected Species and Habitats)
 25.NC (Biodiversity Protection)
 59.BE (General Design Criteria)
 62.BE (Disabled Access)
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
32. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited
weight in the determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
33. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate
on 31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in
January 2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing
advice on 1 April 2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to
the Local Plan to enable its adoption, anticipated in late 2020/early
2021. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that
overall at least moderate, if not considerable weight can be attributed to
it. The most relevant policies are:







S1 (Delivering Sustainable Development)
S2 (Approach to New Development)
DM1 (General Development Criteria)
DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development)
DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change)
DM11 (Nature Conservation)

Supplementary Planning Documents




Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
Supplementary Planning Document: Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Document: Environmentally Sustainable
Development (March 2009)

National Planning Policy Framework
34. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in
the determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy

36

Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
35. Paragraph 11 states that development proposals which accord with the
development plan should be approved without delay. Where the
development plan is absent, silent, or relevant policies are out-of-date
planning permission should be granted unless the adverse impacts of
the development would outweigh the benefits; or specific policies in the
Framework indicate development should be restricted. Local plan
policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “outof-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be given to
relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of
consistency with the NPPF. In other words, the closer the policies in the
plan accord to the policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that
may be given.
36. Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic
(supporting economy and growth); social (support strong, vibrant and
healthy communities by fostering a well-designed and safe built
environment, with accessible services); and environmental (contributing
to, protecting and enhancing natural, built and historic environment)
whilst local circumstances should also be taken into account, so that
development responds to the different opportunities for achieving
sustainable development in different areas.
37. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that
applications for planning permission must be determined in accordance
with the development plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
National Planning Practice Guidance
38. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
39. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a
Local Planning Authority determining an application to do so in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. The Development Plan comprises the Saved
Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and

37

the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable
in this case). The NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance constitute
material considerations of significant weight.
40. Section 2 of the NPPF (February 2019) states that the purpose of the
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs.
41. Each of the three dimensions of sustainable development is considered
below.
42. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on
the Environment. Details elsewhere in this report set out the Climate
Change and Environmental implications of this application and their
proposed mitigations.
Economic Sustainability:
43. Section 2 of the NPPF, when discussing economic sustainability, seeks
to ‘…help build a strong, responsive and competitive economy, by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved
productivity…’.
44. Paragraph 80 states that planning decisions should ‘…help create the
conditions in which businesses can invest, expand and adapt.
Significant weight should be placed on the need to support economic
growth and productivity, taking into account both local business needs
and wider opportunities for development.’
45. This application has arisen following discussions with the Local
Planning Authority following the refusal of the previous application that
proposed the removal of nine of the 14 Oak trees within this landscape
area. The application is linked to the consented scheme to extend and
subdivide the existing building within the site to enable occupation of
Unit 1a by Lidl and Unit 1b by a general variety store. The works
proposed under this new application are intended to improve the
visibility of the second unit, 1b, to support its occupation and improve
the attractiveness of the setting for shoppers, while retaining the mature
trees within this area and enhancing the ecological value of the site.
While refusal of this application would not physically prevent the
subdivision of the existing building taking place, the applicant has
indicated that it is unlikely that unit 1b would be occupied if the visibility
of this unit is not improved.
46. It may therefore be contended that the proposal has an indirect
economic benefit.

38

Social Sustainability:
47. The NPPF sets out the social objective ‘to support strong, vibrant and
healthy communities…and by fostering a well-designed and safe built
environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and
cultural wellbeing…’ (para. 8).
48. Given the nature of the scheme, there are no social benefits in terms of
delivering housing or the provision of accessible local facilities, such as
playing fields or community buildings.
49. The provision of a path within the trees and seating may provide some
wellbeing and amenity benefits, however this will not have a wider
benefit other than to individuals coming to the retail park to shop (and
potentially employees), as this is not a recreation destination nor is it a
social space that may be found in a town centre location or similar.
50. The scheme may have an indirect benefit through supporting the
occupation of one of the two retail units currently being created within
the site and the related job provision.
51. On balance, it is considered that the scheme itself is neutral with
regards to social sustainability and may have an indirect social benefit
in the wider context.
Environmental Sustainability:
52. Section 2 of the NPPF requires development to contribute to protecting
and enhancing the natural, built and historic environment; including
making effective use of land, helping to improve biodiversity, using
natural resources prudently, minimising waste and pollution, and
mitigating and adapting to climate change, including moving to a low
carbon economy.
53. There are a number of different components to Environmental
Sustainability, including consideration of site-specific planning matters
and the impacts of the development on its surroundings, which are
considered below under the relevant subheadings.
Design and Appearance:
54. Paragraph 127 states that planning decisions should ensure the
developments are visually attractive; sympathetic to local character and
history, including the surrounding built environment and landscape
setting; and establish or maintain a strong sense of place.
55. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full
and proper account of the context of the site including the character and
appearance of the locality. Development is required to be appropriate

39

in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting, both in themselves
and in relation to adjoining features including natural features and trees
worthy of retention. It also requires a high standard of landscape
design, and a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles,
cyclist and pedestrians.
56. As discussed previously, the mature Oak trees were part of a larger
group of trees within the development site when outline consent was
granted in 1995. These trees provide a link to the historic land use and
are an unusual and distinctive feature in a retail park environment. The
amended scheme secures the retention of the majority of these trees,
with the removal of one semi-mature tree located close to the existing
building façade. Retention of the mature Oak trees is a significant
concern for third parties, as expressed in many of the representations
received to the associated application for tree works.
57. The provision of a ‘pocket park’ with path, woodland wildflower planting
and mown amenity grassland edges allows this area to provide a more
functional, attractive, amenity space within the site. While it does
increase the level of hard surfacing in the northwest corner of this
landscape area with the associated loss of the tree, the design of the
park and the wider landscape proposals are of good quality and
introduce a number of ecological enhancements and other wider
benefits. No changes are proposed to the car parking area as a result
of this proposal. The scheme takes account of the setting of the
landscape area and the protected mature English Oak trees and
justification is provided for the removal of T4. On balance therefore, the
proposal is considered to accord with saved policy 59.BE and emerging
policy DM1.
Ecology and Trees:
58. Paragraph 175 of the NPPF requires Local Planning Authorities to
apply a number of principles to protect and enhance biodiversity and
geodiversity. These include:
a)

‘if significant harm to biodiversity resulting from a development
cannot be avoided (through locating on an alternative site with
less harmful impacts), adequately mitigated, or, as a last resort,
compensated for, then planning permission should be refused;…

b)

development resulting in the loss or deterioration of irreplaceable
habitats (such as ancient woodland and ancient or veteran trees)
should be refused, unless there are wholly exceptional reasons
and a suitable compensation strategy exists…’

59. Chapter 15 of the NPPF sets out the Government’s position regarding
conserving and enhancing the natural environment.

40

60. Paragraph 170 states that planning decisions should protect and
enhance valued landscapes and sites of biodiversity value; recognise
the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services,
including of trees; and minimise impacts on, and provide net gains for,
biodiversity.
61. The proposal would result in the loss of one semi-mature English Oak
tree close to the proposed front entrance for the new Unit 1b. This tree
forms part of the group of 14 Oak trees, which as a group provide very
high levels of public visual amenity due to their size and position
relative to the public realm. These trees are visible outside of the retail
park curtilage throughout the year, although during the summer period,
when the surrounding tree screen is in leaf, these trees form part of the
wider green backdrop. In addition, the trees provide multiple
ecosystem services in what is a significant expansive of hard standing
and in close proximity to sizeable built structures. These trees, both
individually and as a group, will be providing services such as storm
water management, pollution control, microclimate regulation, habitat,
and carbon storage and sequestration.
62. However, T4 is distinct from the main group of 13 mature Oak trees,
through age, size and location, as recognised by the Council’s Tree
Consultant. This semi-mature tree is notably younger and smaller than
the trees within the main group and is separate to this group, sited
behind the main group and located in close proximity to, and leaning
towards, the façade of the building.
63. As a category C tree, it has a lesser value to the other trees within this
site (although is not without value) and the location of the tree close to
the building limits the scope of the tree to thrive, particularly as it would
be more likely to require continued pruning/ tree works to ensure
clearance of the building and minimise debris on the pedestrian
walkway. The Council’s Tree Consultant acknowledges that it is
unlikely to be viable in the long term. The loss of this tree is not
considered to significantly impact the functioning of this group in terms
of ecosystem services.
64. The area under the trees is amenity grassland and bound in places by
low level shrubs/scrub including holly and brambles. As discussed by
the Council’s Ecologist, these habitats themselves are of localised
intrinsic ecological value but the lack of direct connectivity to other,
suitable habitat is a limiting factor.
65. The proposals for the pocket park will include a path, woodland
wildflower planting and mown, amenity grassland edges. The path
through the area is proposed to be bark, minimising any impact on the
root protection area of the trees while allowing visitors to experience
them in closer proximity. The trees are protected from close physical
access due to the addition of low-level railings; and woodland
wildflowers, flowering and/or berrying shrubs and insect hotels

41

encourage wildlife. Benches are to be provided for visitors and
employees to sit. Porous resin bounded gravel is to be used in the
northwest corner to enable improved access to the entrance to Unit 1b,
while allowing surface water to drain away.
66. The Council’s Ecologist considers that if done sensitively, in-line with
ecological recommendations, the pocket park could represent a useful
resource for biodiversity, improving the ecological value of this space.
They confirm that the removal of the single, semi-mature Oak is not a
constraint in terms of ecology.
67. To mitigate the loss of the Oak tree, the wider landscape scheme
proposes the planting of 12 additional trees. One of these trees is to be
planted within the interior of the park, extending the line of trees
towards the Pets At Home unit and a further 11 trees are to be planted
along the boundary of the wider site in a range of locations. Additional
enhancements include replacement of over-mature shrubs and planting
of bare areas with wild flowers, native and flowering/berrying shrubs
and ground cover; deadwood loggeries for invertebrates; and bird and
bat boxes. These works will further improve the ecological and amenity
value of the site.
68. Saved policy 25.NC states that development that adversely affects a
habitat or feature of importance for wild fauna and flora will not be
permitted, unless it can be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the
Council that the benefits of the development outweigh the adverse
impacts; the adverse impacts are unavoidable, and; appropriate
measures are taken which would mitigate or compensate for any
adverse impact. The proposals as presented will not impact upon any
sites designated for their nature conservation value or protected
species.
69. Emerging policy DM11 supports the protection, conservation and
enhancement of natural features and specifically references trees
important to biodiversity and local character. The proposal therefore
similarly accords with this emerging policy. Provided the scheme is
delivered as outlined in the Landscape Strategy and will not negatively
impact existing, retained trees, the Council’s Ecologist raises no
objection.
70. On balance therefore, the loss of the Oak tree (T4), recognising its
limited long-term viability, and weighed against the proposed ecological
enhancements in the immediate vicinity and site-wide and the mitigation
planting of 12 trees, can be justified.
71. Concerns have been raised by third parties and Hedge End Town
Council regarding the potential for accidental damage to the mature
trees being retained. All remaining trees can be protected during the
non-tree related works associated with this application, with the
exception of landscaping works to the pocket park. The proposed

42

landscaping works and the planting within, or in close proximity to, the
combined root protection area of the remaining TPO’d trees would have
the potential to have an adverse impact on the health and vitality of
these trees. It is therefore essential that mitigation measures are
specified and appropriately implemented.
72. The tree survey report that accompanies this application recommends
that a detailed method statement for the landscape and groundworks
associated with the pocket park is produced and duly implemented.
This shall include suitable No-Dig construction methods and materials,
and the exclusion of all but pedestrian operated machinery. A condition
is therefore recommended to require the submission of this method
statement and compliance with the approved document.
73. Given the high value of these trees, both arboricultural/ecological and
societal, and the potential for longer-term maintenance work to be
required, it is considered appropriate to require the submission of a
long-term management plan for these trees to secure a suitable level of
maintenance and management protecting the longevity of this important
feature.
Climate Change:
74. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on
the environment.
75. The NPPF (paragraphs 148-154), Saved Policies 34.ES and 37.ES of
the Local Plan, and emerging Policies S1, DM2 and DM3 of the
submitted Local Plan require development to be sustainable in terms of
resource use, climate change and energy use.
76. The ecosystem services that the Oak trees provide have been
discussed in brief above. The loss of this single semi-mature Oak tree
is not considered to significantly impact the services provided by this
group of mature Oak trees and the planting of 12 trees as mitigation
will, in time, provide additional ecosystem services.
77. It must also be noted that Eastleigh Borough Council has declared a
Climate and Environmental Emergency. While the loss of trees is to be
resisted (as has been demonstrated through the refusal of the earlier
planning application on this site)’ on balance, the ecological
enhancements and wider benefits delivered through the removal of this
tree would in this instance mitigate the impact of this loss.
Other material considerations
Equalities Implications:

43

78. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:- A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard
to the need to:
a.
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation
and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under
this Act;
b.
advance equality of opportunity between persons
who share a relevant protected characteristic and
persons who do not share it;
c.
foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not share it.
79. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.
It is considered that this application does not raise any equality
implications.
Conclusion
80. The loss of the Oak tree (T4), recognising its limited long-term viability,
must be weighed against the benefits that could be delivered by the
proposed scheme. When weighed against the proposed ecological
enhancements in the immediate vicinity and site-wide; the mitigation
planting of 12 trees; the visual and functional amenity improvements to
this area; and the potential economic benefits, in this instance it is
considered the loss of the tree can be justified and adequately and
appropriately mitigated. The recommendation is therefore to grant
planning permission, subject to conditions.

44

45

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday
25 January 2021
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

T/20/89128
Chris Stringer
28/10/2020
Hedge End Retail Park, Tollbar Way, Hedge End, SO30
2UH
c/o Agent
Various tree works (Please see Covering Letter, Tree
Survey Report and Landscape Strategy for details of works
proposed to retained trees G2, G3 and T3 (total no. 13
trees)).

Recommendation:
PERMIT, subject to conditions.
___________________________________________________________________
CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

1) No branches over 50 mm in diameter shall be removed and the tree
works shall retain the natural shape and habit typical of the species.
Reason: To safeguard the health and amenity of the trees.
2) The tree works hereby consented shall be completed within 2 years of
the date of this permission and shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved details and to British Standard for Tree Work
BS3998:2010. Reason: To safeguard the health and amenity of the
trees.
Note to Applicant: It is considered that, subject to compliance with the
conditions attached to this permission, the proposed tree works are
acceptable because they will not materially harm the character of the
area, the amenity of neighbours or highway safety, and are in
accordance with the policies and proposals of the development plan
and after due regard to all other relevant material considerations the
local planning authority is of the opinion that permission should be
granted.
Note to applicant: All works hereby consented should be carried out by
a suitably qualified and insured tree surgeon. A copy of the decision
notice should be given to the Tree Surgeon.
Note to applicant: Deadwood may be removed at any time without an
application.
Note to applicant: Please be advised that the Wildlife and Countryside

47

Act 1981 as amended, the Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000
and the Conservation (Natural Habitats) Regulations 1994 protect ALL
wild birds, their nests (whether in use or being built) and eggs and other
wild animals including bats and their roosts in or adjacent to trees.
Note to applicant: The granting of consent does not give the applicant
or their agent a legal right to enter land without the owner’s permission.
Note to applicant: Advice regarding overhead utilities should be sought
with the relevant service provider prior to commencing works.
Note to applicant: Please follow current recommended Bio-security
measures - Further advice can be found at
https://www.trees.org.uk/News-Blog/News/Biosecurity-in-Arboricultureand-Urban-Forestry-Po
Note to applicant: Deadwood within trees provides a rich and important
habitat; it can be a natural part of the trees life cycle. Consider retention
of deadwood where it is safe to do so.

Report:
1. This application has been referred to Committee due to receipt of 73
objections and the level of public interest.

Description of application
2. G2, G3 and T3 – oaks – removal of epicormic stem growth up to 4
metres above ground level.
3. Epicormic growth is defined as shoots of generally small diameter
arising from dormant buds, common on a tree’s main stem.
Trees
4. The subject trees are protected under area Tree Preservation Orders
269-E and 93-E.
5. G2, G3 and T3 are all mature oaks forming a codominant group located
to the front of the retail store. The individual trees (13 in total) appear to
be structurally and physiologically as one would expect for trees of this
size and age.
6. The codominant group is highly visible and prominent within its setting.

48

Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
7. The application site is located within the car park of a retail area. The
site is immediately to the south of the former Homebase store and to
the west of Currys PC World. It contains 14 trees, 13 of which – the
subject trees – were originally part of a larger group of trees or
woodland that was retained when the retail area was developed. Apart
from the subject trees, there are no other significant, mature trees
within the car park area, making the subject trees a unique feature,
although there are trees around the periphery of the retail area and
along the local highways.

Relevant Planning History:
8. Outline planning permission for the development of the site was
originally granted in July 1995 (planning ref. Z/33503/000/00). Condition
15 of this permission required the submission of a scheme of
landscaping to include indications of all existing trees and hedgerows to
be retained, together with measures for their protection. Reserved
Matters were approved in September 1995 (planning ref.
Z/33503/002/00).
9. In October 2016, an application for various tree works was granted
consent under reference T/16/79086 which included works to a number
of the trees that are the subject of this application, primarily to reduce
the canopy. One tree within this area was turned into a monolith
(removal of all branches to reduce a dead or dying tree back to its main
stem).
10. Of particular relevance is planning application F/19/87101 which was
resolved to be refused by the Local Area Committee on 15th June 2020
(decision issued 18th June 2020). This application proposed the
removal of nine of the 14 trees within the forecourt landscape area and
associated and additional landscape works.
11. There is also a current full planning application – F/20/89127 – valid on
the site for a landscape proposal, which includes the removal of T4.

Representations Received:
12. 77 representations were received in total, including 73 letters of
objection, 3 with comments and a parish comment. No comments were
received from West End Parish Council, however Hedge End Town
Council provided the following response: “Objection to the felling of T4
small oak. No Objection to the various epicormic growth subject to the
usual conditions of the tree officer.”

49

13. The objections and comments received can be grouped into the
following concerns. A response to these matters is provided under each
issue:
-

Removal of ivy and deadwood citing ecology.
o The protection of ivy is not covered under the Tree
Preservation Order regulations, while deadwood removal is
exempt. This is therefore not a matter for consideration as
part of this application.

-

Removal of T4 citing aesthetics, TPO protection, biodiversity and
climate emergency as reasons for retention.
o This application relates solely to the removal of epicormic
growth and does not propose the removal of T4. T4 is
covered under application F/20/89127.

-

Removal of mature trees (G2, G3 and T3) citing aesthetics, TPO
protection, biodiversity and climate emergency as reasons for
retention.
o G2, G3 and T3 are not proposed for removal under this
application.

-

General cutting of branches/pruning citing aesthetic and tree
health reasons.
o The removal of epicormic growth has been address below.
No significant pruning has been proposed under this
application.

-

Hedgerow removal citing biodiversity.
o No hedgerows are proposed for removal under this
application.

-

Over development of the area citing traffic increases and the lack
of need for a pocket park.
o This concern is beyond the scope of the TPO application.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background:
14. Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004
states: “If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose
of any determination to be made under the Planning Acts the

50

determination must be made in accordance with the plan unless
material considerations indicate otherwise”.
Impact of proposed works on trees:
15. The removal of small diameter, epicormic growth from the lower stems
of these trees will have a negligible effect on their physiological
condition. This is because the amount of photosynthetic material (leaf
area) being removed is insignificant when compared with the overall
photosynthetic area of the trees. The proposed work is considered
routine and sound arboricultural management.
Impact of proposed works on amenity:
16. The removal of small diameter, epicormic growth from the lower stems
of these trees will have a negligible effect on the codominant group’s
visual amenity. This is because the amount of leaf area/branches being
removed is insignificant when compared with the overall crown of the
trees. Further, the lower stem represents an area of less visual amenity
that the crowns.
Other material considerations:
Equalities Implications:
17. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:- A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
a. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and
any other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
b. advance equality of opportunity between persons who
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons
who do not share it;
c. foster good relations between persons who share a
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do
not share it.
18. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.
It is considered that this application does not raise any equality
implications.
19. It is considered that there are no other material considerations to
warrant a decision otherwise than in accordance with the Development
Plan and legislative background.

51

Conclusion
20. The proposed works to G2, G3 and T3 are considered reasonable and
will not be of significant detriment to the health or amenity of the trees.
The recommendation is to grant consent for these works.

52

53

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
HEWEB, Hedge End, West End and Botley, Monday 25th January 2021

Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

F/20/88655
Clare Martin
Wednesday 2 September 2020
Boundary Lakes Golf Course, Moorhill Road, West End,
Southampton, SO30 3XH
Mark Russell
Erection of golf course clubhouse and ancillary facilities, golf
cart store and car parking area, together with repositioned
internal access roads, landscaping and SuDs.

Recommendation:
Subject to satisfactory receipt of the following documents, competition of
consultations on the additional information and any associated conditions:
I.
II.
III.
IV.
V.
VI.
VII.
VIII.
IX.
X.
XI.
XII.

Management plan for bar/ lounge (including opening hours and measures to
control noise, odours and disturbance).
Construction Environmental Management Plan
Proposed ground levels and relationship to existing levels both within the site
and on immediately adjoining land and include details of retaining walls.
A desk study, site investigation and where necessary remediation scheme to
deal with ground contamination.
Full design details of the sustainable drainage system (including attenuation
pond) and future maintenance arrangements.
Investigation of the condition of the drainage ditch (with photographic
evidence) including measures to repair the ditch where necessary.
Ecological mitigation and enhancement plan with location of biodiversity
enhancement measures.
A precautionary method statement for reptiles.
Details of external lighting (including light spill diagram)
Details of materials to be used in the external surfaces of the development.
Elevations and details of the entrance gate and any boundary treatments.
Full soft landscape specification and management schedule for a minimum of
five years.

Then delegate to the Head of Housing and Development Management in
consultation with the Chair, Vice-Chair and Local Ward Councillors to GRANT
PLANNING PERMISSION
_________________________________________________________________
CONDITIONS AND REASONS
1

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with
the following plans numbered: 19320-D-01 Rev D, J00565-017, 102 Rev G,
103 Rev C, 006 Rev P, 010 Rev J, 011 Rev H, 017, 020 Rev K, 030 Rev G, 35
Rev A, 901 Rev J & 902 Rev A.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

55

56

2

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3

The development must accord with the arboricultural report reference
D2033AIA produced by Alderwood Consulting. No excavation, demolition or
development related works shall commence until tree protection fencing and
ground protection has been installed as per the tree protection plan contained
within the report. Once installed, no access by vehicles or placement of goods,
chemicals, fuels, soil or other materials shall take place within the protected
area. Tree protection measures shall be retained in their approved form for the
duration of the work.
Reason - To retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part
of the amenity of the locality.

4

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until there has
been submitted to the Local Planning Authority verification by the competent
person approved under the provisions of condition that any remediation scheme
required and approved under the provisions of the above condition has been
implemented fully in accordance with the approved details (unless varied with
the written permission of the Local Planning Authority in advance of
implementation). Unless agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority
such verification shall comprise:
a. photographs of the remediation works in progress,
b. certificates demonstrating that imported and / or material left in situ is free
from contamination.
Thereafter the scheme shall be monitored and maintained in accordance with
the scheme previously approved.

5

The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until the
parking area has been provided in accordance with the approved plans and
thereafter permanently retained and used only in connection with the golf club.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

6

The drainage system shall be constructed in accordance with the Flood Risk
Assessment ref: 19320, unless otherwise first agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority in consultation with The Lead Local Flood Authority. Any
revised details submitted for approval must include a technical summary
highlighting any changes, updated detailed drainage drawings and detailed
drainage calculations. Surface water discharge to the existing ditch shall be
limited to 2.0 l/s.
Reason: To enable a functional SUDS system for the development.

7

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Ecological
Appraisal Report by John Associates (J00565/ Version 1.1, dated August 2020)
and Technical Note: Reptile Surveys by John Associates. Any vegetation
clearance shall only be carried out outside of the bird nesting season (February
– September inclusive) or preceded by a nesting bird check from a suitably

qualified ecologist.
Reason: In the interests of ecology.
8

The landscaping scheme must be completed in accordance with the approved
details and to the appropriate British standard within 12 months from the
completion of the golf club house or by such later date as the Local Planning
Authority may determine. For a period of no less than 5 years after planting, any
trees or plants which are removed, die or become seriously damaged or
defective, shall be replaced as soon as is reasonably practicable with others of
the same species, size and number as originally approved in the landscaping
and planting schemes.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenities of the locality.

9

No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

10

No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

11

The development hereby approved shall be used as a golf club house only and
for no other purpose [including any other purpose in Class D2 of the Schedule
to the Town and Country Planning [Use Classes] Order 1987, or in any
provision equivalent to that Class[es] in any statutory instrument revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification].
Reason: The site is located within the countryside where the types of
development are controlled.

12

The bar lounge and outdoor external seating area hereby approved shall only
be used in connection with the golf club and not for independent functions. No
functions shall take place on major events days at the Ageas Bowl (i.e. events
that attract over 15,000 people). The use and running of the club house will
accord with the approved management plan.
Reason: The site is within countryside and to protect the amenity of the locality.

13

The stewards flat within the development hereby approved shall only be
occupied by the person managing the club's facilities or an employee of the golf
club.
Reason: The site is located within the countryside where new residential
development is not normally permitted.
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a
timely manner.

57

Report:
This application has been referred to Committee because it is a major
development and Eastleigh Borough Council has an ownership interest in the
site.
Introduction/ Background
1. The proposal is for the erection of a golf club house incorporating new
parking area, landscaping, an attenuation pond and other sustainable
urban drainage features and biodiversity enhancements. The single storey
club house building covers 468m2 and encompasses a bar/ lounge,
kitchen, changing facilities, professional shop and a single bedroomed
stewards flat.
2. The proposal also includes the construction of a sixty space private car
park and ancillary building to store golf cart buggies along with a collection/
drop off point. The proposal will utilise the existing access off Moorhill
Road, which will be realigned within the site to make way for the new
facility.
3. The application follows on from a previous planning permission, which
allowed the extension and redesign of the existing eighteen hole golf
course to encompass a wider area. That permission allowed part of the golf
course to be used for match day parking, with up to 400 cars entering and
all cars leaving via the Moorhill Road access (F/18/83908).
4. The application is accompanied by the following reports and technical
assessments:









Planning Statement
Design and Access Statement
Visual Impact Assessment
Arboricultural Impact Assessment
Transport Statement
Ecological Impact Assessment
Flood Risk Assessment (including surface water and foul drainage
strategy)
Cultural Heritage Assessment

Environmental Screening
5. The proposal has been screened under the Town and Country Planning
(Environmental Impact Assessment) (England) Regulations 2011, as the
site area is 1.1 hectares, which is marginally above the above the 1
hectare threshold set out within Schedule 2, Part 12, Criterion f. It has been
determined that subject to appropriate conditions that the proposal would

58

not have likely significant effects on the environment and therefore would
not be development requiring an Environmental Statement.
6. The nature and size of the development is not considered to have a likely
significant impact on any European Designated Site.
Character of the Locality
7. Boundary Lakes Golf course is located within an area designated as
countryside and Strategic Gap between Southampton, West End and
Hedge End. To the north past the golf course is Telegraph Woods SINC
(approximately 200m) and the Ageas Bowl cricket ground and hospitality
facilities (approximately 900m).
8. With regards to adjoining uses, to the immediate north west is a row of
three detached dwellings that are set within large curtilages. A derelict
residential property is situated to the south east with an appeal allowed for
the site to be used for caravan sales/ workshop. To the south west, beyond
Moorhill Road, is sited Moorhill Gardens and the urban areas of Thornhill
and Harefield.
Site Characteristics
9. The site covers approximately 1.1 hectares and comprises an area of land
within the existing golf course. The site is located next to Moorhill Road,
where it is bordered by mature trees and vegetation along its south
western boundary and these are protected through a TPO. There is a
further tree line along the sites south eastern boundary and these are next
to a ditch. Due to these trees there is limited visibility into the site from
Moorhill Road or Charles Watts Way, especially during the summer
months.
10. Topographically most of the site is relatively flat level and then the ground
slopes away to the north and east so that the land is on a relatively high
point within the undulating golf course. The site is accessed from Moorhill
Road and connects to an existing road network providing a secondary
access to the cricket ground. The access is heavily used during major
cricket or hospitality events and is part of the traffic management plan
secured under the previous permission.
Relevant Planning History
11. F/18/83908 - Construction of golf course extension and its dual use for
temporary, occasional car parking for major events (more than 15,000
capacity) for the Ageas Bowl between April and October for up to 1300
cars on approximately 12 occasions per annum. Associated landscaping,
drainage, ecological enhancement, tree works and earthworks – Permitted
(Sep 2019)

59

12. F/07/61830 - Construction of 4-storey, 175-bedroom hotel to include dual
media & hospitality uses, media centre, restaurant & bar, golf clubhouse
facility conference rooms & spa leisure facility with car parking & access
from Marshall Drive; construction of new covered stands to include
permanent & temporary seating (total site capacity 25,000 spectators),
catering facilities, executive boxes, retail units, screens & scoreboard,
match control room, outside broadcast compound & perimeter fencing;
redesign, re-contouring & extension of existing golf course to provide 18hole golf course to include re-routing of footpaths, a feature lake &
landscaping; & provision of temporary construction access off Botley Road
– Permitted (2009)
Representations Received
13. One letter from the owner of Thorneydown Bungalow supporting the
application on a number of provisos including; no increase in traffic; the
club house is only used in connection with the golf facility and the club
house is not used after 11pm; tree screening and a bund is provided on the
north western boundary to screen headlights; only low level lighting is
used; removal of the 10th tee; left turn only into Moorhill Road; a secure
entrance is provided to restrict unauthorised access onto the site;
construction hours conditioned; a site management plan is provided.
14. One letter from Shirrabank on Botley Road, outlining the danger caused by
stray golf balls coming into garden as current netting is insufficient.
Consultation Responses
Planning Policy – No objection
15. The principle of development is supported as it is in line with Policy WE4
(Land at Ageas Bowl), which states that development must be for outdoor
sport or recreational purposes or for buildings strictly ancillary to such
uses.
Urban Design Officer – No objection
16. The amended plans follow previous feedback given by the Urban Design
Officer and the additional raised planters fronting the terrace are
welcomed. Minor changes suggested around materials, increasing the
prominence of club entrance, additional tree planting and sustainable
technologies.
Landscape Officer – No objection plans have been amended to follow
previous advice given.
Ecology Officer – No objection
17. The ecological appraisal is acceptable.

60

18. The reptile surveys (technical note) confirms presence of a low population
of slow worms and a population of common lizards is assumed from
previous survey date. A precautionary working method statement for
replies should be conditioned.
19. Eastleigh Borough Council requires that surface water be subject to three
above ground naturalised forms of filtration before being discharged at
greenfield rates. The Flood Risk Assessment outlines several options,
including permeable surfacing, sedum roof & planters and a detention
basin. Further drainage details are required by condition.
20. Environmental Construction Management Plan and Landscape
Environmental Management plan conditions should be applied. The
rhododendron will be controlled/removed through the implementation of the
LEMP.
Tree Officer – No objection
21. While the majority of the site is free from trees, the site is bordered by
significant tree groups to the south west and south east. The trees to the
south west, along the highway, are protected by a Tree Preservation
Order.
22. No significant trees are due for removal under the proposed development,
although there are recommendations that some trees are removed for
health and safety reasons. The arboricultural report is satisfactory and
stipulates the methods of tree protection.
Environmental Health Officer - No objection subject to land contamination
and amenity conditions.
Transport Officer (Hampshire County Council) – No objection
23. The proposal will utilise the existing Moorhill Road access and visibility at
the junction accords to standards.
24. The transport assessment suggests an average trip rate of 20 vehicles per
hour utilising the site (equating to 1 vehicle every 3 minutes). Whilst it
would be expected that tee-off split times of 8 minute frequencies could
result in more than one vehicle arriving at any one time, as an increase in
trips compared to the existing situation, the increase will be minimal at just
+1.4%.
25. The sites access from Moorgreen Road is anticipated to work well within
capacity. Modelling data of the Kanes Hill roundabout demonstrates that
queues heading south on the A27 Moorhill Road are very unlikely to
obstruct right turns into site or cause back up issues onto Kanes Hill
roundabout, which is approximately 175 metres away. However, it would
be beneficial for the developer to provide keep clear markings across the
entrance to ensure right hand turns into the site can always be achieved.

61

26. The provision of a 60 space car park is adequate and will provide more
spaces than the 46 spaces currently provided for the existing on-site golf
course near the hotel. Cycle storage has also been included next to the
building.
27. The car park layout is acceptable with adequate circulation space and
6.0m aisle widths to allow for easy turning. Recommend 0.3m step out
strips for spaces next to landscaping and retaining walls to allow space to
open car doors.
Hampshire County Council (Lead Flood Authority) – No objection
28. The information submitted by the applicant in support of this planning
application indicates that surface water runoff from the application site will
be managed through permeable paving (geocellular grid filled and
underlain with gravel) and a detention basin. Additionally, surface water will
be discharged to an existing ditch at a discharge rate of 2.0 l/s.
Hampshire County Council (Archaeology) – No objection.
29. The study of the site presented, using aerial photography and a site visit,
indicate that this part of the golf course had been subject to substantial
impact by groundworks and earthmoving during earlier iterations of the golf
course history (para 3.4 and 4.28) Such earthmoving and landscaping will
have had a significant impact on the archaeological potential of the site
(para 5.2). In light of this extensive and damaging past episode no further
archaeological works are merited (para 5.12 and 6.5).
Highways England – No objection
Southampton Airport – No objection
West End Parish Council – No objection
Hedge End Town Council – No objection
Natural England – No comment
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site





Strategic Gap
Countryside
Blanket TPO (along front boundary with Moorhill Road)
The Rose Bowl and Tennis Centre Special Policy Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:
 1.CO (Countryside Protection)

62













2.CO (Strategic Gap)
25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity)
34.ES (Reduction of greenhouse gases/ Sustainable construction)
36.ES (Lighting design)
37.ES (Energy efficiency)
45.ES (Sustainable drainage)
59.BE (Design criteria)
63.BE (Car park design)
100.T (Transport criteria)
104.T (Off-highway parking)
158.OS (Special Policy Area)

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
30. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the
determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
31. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on
31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January
2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April
2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to
enable its adoption, anticipated in mid 2021. Given the status of the
Submitted Plan, it is considered that considerable weight can be attributed
to it. The most relevant policies are:
32. Strategic policies:
 S1 (Sustainable Development);
 S7 (New Development in the Countryside)
 S8 (Protection of Countryside Gaps)
 S10 (Green Infrastructure)
33. Development Management policies:
 DM1 (General Development Criteria);
 DM2 (Environmentally Sustainable Development);
 DM3 (Adapting to Climate Change);
 DM6 (Sustainable Surface Water Management and Watercourse
 Management);
 DM8 (Pollution);
 DM10 (Water and Waste Water);
 DM11 (Nature Conservation);
 DM13 (Transport);
 DM14 (Car Parking);
 DM36 (New Recreational Development)

63

34. Site Policies
 WE4 (Land at Ageas Bowl & Tennis Centre)
Supplementary Planning Documents




Quality Places (November 2011);
Environmentally Sustainable Development (March 2009);
Biodiversity (December 2009);

National Planning Policy Framework
35. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
36. Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic
(supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social (providing
housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local services);
and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing natural, built
and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also be taken
into account, so that development responds to the different opportunities
for achieving sustainable development in different areas.
Planning Practice Guidance
37. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
38. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case). The NPPF and the
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant
weight.

64

Principle
39. The application site at Boundary Lakes golf course is located within the
Rose Bowl and Tennis Centre Special Policy Area, under the adopted
Local Plan. The golf course forms part of a complex of high profile sporting
and hospitality facilities, built around the Ageas Bowl Cricket Ground. The
Council is keen to support the long term success of these sporting facilities,
which caters for both local residents and those coming from further afield.
40. The golf course is currently being extended and redeveloped as part of an
earlier planning permission. While the golf course is relatively successful,
the lack of a dedicated golf club house means that the facility is at a
competitive disadvantage compared to other similar courses with golfers
having to rely on the hospitality facilities located at the Ageas Bowl/ Hilton
Hotel.
41. Saved Policy 158.OS makes provision for development within the Rose
Bowl and Tennis Centre Special Policy Area, where it is ancillary to
outdoor sports/ recreational facilities. This would include the proposed club
house, which will support the existing golf facility.
42. The site is also located within an area of countryside and strategic gap,
where Saved Policies 1.CO & 2.CO of the adopted Local Plan are
applicable. Saved Policy 1.CO allows for developments related to outdoor
uses within the countryside, providing any associated buildings, hard
standings or structures are not of a form, scale or design, which would
demonstrably harm the character of the countryside.
43. The club house is a single storey building, which encompasses a bar/
lounge, kitchen, changing facilities and professional shop. At one end of
the building is a small one bed stewards flat, to allow the steward to remain
on site to ensure the smooth running of the golfing facility. The proposal
includes an associated 60 space car park, golf buggy storage facility,
entrance gates and new signage. It is considered that the scale of the
building and type of facilities provided is reasonable and would be
comparable to those available within other sports clubs.
44. The application site is heavily screened by mature trees and vegetation
along both its Moorhill Road boundary and its south eastern side boundary
with Thorneydown Farm. A further row of trees will be planted along the
sites north western side boundary, providing screening for the dwellings to
the north (at Thorneydown Bungalow, Holmes Manor and South Lodge).
As such there will be limited visibility of the club house and associated
development from outside of the site.
45. It is considered that the proposal accords with Saved Policy 1.CO in that
the development is will be of an appropriate a form, scale or design, which
would not demonstrably harm the character of the countryside.

65

46. The site is also located within the strategic gap, where Saved Policy 2.CO
makes provision for development where it does not physically or visually
diminish the strategic gap. The aim of the policy is to maintain the
openness of the gap and prevent the coalescence of nearby settlements.
47. While the proposed development will introduce a building and associated
structures into the strategic gap, this impact has been minimised by siting
the golf club house at the edge of the large golf course, where it will sit
along Moorhill Road close to other buildings. The proposal is not
considered to undermine the function of the strategic gap, which will
remain mostly undeveloped and encompasses telegraph woods and the
existing golf course.
48. The Council is in the process of adopting the submitted local plan, which
due to its advanced stage holds considerable weight in the assessment
process. Under this plan the site remains within an area of countryside and
countryside gap and so would be subject to Draft Policies DM36
(recreational development within the countryside) and S8 (countryside
gaps). While the wording of the submitted policies has been updated to
follow the guidance set out within the National Planning Policy Framework,
the policies generally reflect the earlier requirements of Saved Policies
1.CO, 2.CO & 158.OS.
49. The main difference between the adopted and submitted local plans, is that
the application site has been taken out of the Ageas Bowl and Tennis
Centre Special Policy Area under the published version of the submitted
plan. However, following feedback from the Planning Inspector, the Council
is working on modifying this policy and there is a reasonable prospect that
the special policy area will again be extended to include the golf course
(action point 13.14). In this case Draft Policy WE4 (The Ageas Bowl and
Tennis Centre Special Policy Area) will apply, which is a revised version of
Policy 158.OS. In all other respects the policy position does not
significantly change under the submitted local plan.
50. In conclusion, it is considered that the proposal meets the main objectives
of Saved Policies 1.CO, 2.CO and 158.OS and the principle of
development is therefore acceptable, subject to detailed consideration of
the other relevant planning policies and material considerations.
Character and Appearance
51. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted local plan requires development to take
full and proper account of the context of the site including the character
and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale,
materials, layout, design and siting. The policy provisions are considered to
be consistent with the requirements of the NPPF and in particular those
within Chapter 12 - achieving well designed places.

66

52. Saved Policy 158.OS covers the special policy area and requires
development to be of a high quality layout, design and landscaping, which
fits into the wider landscape setting.
53. The proposed club house will not be readily visible from outside of the site
and so it is not necessary for the proposal to closely replicate the
surrounding development. The club house is a single storey building of a
contemporary design. The building will be mostly covered in vertical timber
cladding with a grey aluminium roof and the secondary elements and
retaining walls are in a light grey/ buff brick. The building has been broken
down into smaller elements that are linked by a sedum (green) roof.
54. The club house is perched on the top of the slope with its north eastern
elevation visible across the golf course. The building’s design maximises
this aspect with the bar/ lounge having large windows and access to an
external seating area on its wrap around terrace. In front of the north east
elevation is a large wildflower meadow grass area and attenuation pond,
which as well as adding to the landscape setting also functions as part of
the sustainable drainage system.
55. The club house is of a good design and its individual elements create
interest and help to reduce the buildings overall height and massing. The
area around the club house contains a number of raised ornamental shrub
beds, which provide colour and soften the appearance of the building. The
row of mature trees along the site boundaries, and additional tree planting
along the north western boundary, will provide an attractive backdrop to the
building and help it settle into the wider landscape.
56. In terms of the car park, the circulation routes and car parking spaces are
to be surfaced in contrasting materials. The golf cart store will be located at
the far end of the car park, next to the building’s service area, and is a
simple timber enclosure. The car park is reasonably well landscaped with
trees and planters introduced between spaces and at the end of the aisle
to break up the larger areas of hard surfacing.
57. No objection has been raised by the Council’s Urban Design or Landscape
Officers and the proposal has gone through a series of amendments to
improve the function, design and landscaping of the building and
associated car park. In terms of its character and appearance, the
proposed development is considered to meet policy requirements and will
be an acceptable addition to the golf course.
Car Parking and Access
58. Saved Policy 59.BE (v.) requires that development has a satisfactory
means of access and layout for vehicles, whilst Saved Policy 104.T
requires that an appropriate level of car parking be provided. Saved
Policies 100.T & 158.OS (v.) also requires development to make
provision for sustainable transport methods. The Saved Policies are

67

consistent with the requirements of the NPPF and in particular those of
paragraphs 109 &110.
59. The proposal includes a sixty spaces car park, which is an increase on the
current forty-six spaces available at the Ageas Bowl. The sixty spaces are
the maximum that can be provided on this relatively level section of the
Ageas site. Whilst the proposals are not resulting in a direct increase in the
size of the golf course, the development seeks to make the golf course
more attractive to members and as such an increase in available car
parking is required to accommodate for any future increase in demand.
60. The golf club house will employ up to eight staff. Cycle hoops have been
provided next to the service area, although these will mainly be available
for staff as most golfers will need to transport sports equipment in private
vehicles. The car park also includes the provision of four disabled spaces,
six spaces with electric charging facilities and storage for golf carts. The
layout of the car park is acceptable with adequate circulation space and
6.0m aisle widths to allow for easy turning.
61. The proposal is supported by a transport assessment, which was informed
by pre-application discussions with the Transport Team at Hampshire
County Council. It is estimated that the proposal will result in a fairly
minimal increase trip rate of just 1.4% compared to the current situation,
with car movements based on tee off times and varying throughout the
day.
62. The small increase in trips associated with the golf club house should not
have a significant impact on the road network or highway safety. The
Moorhill Road access is anticipated to work well within capacity and
modelling of the Kanes Hill roundabout to the south has demonstrated that
queues heading south on the A27 Moorhill Road are unlikely to obstruct
right turns into site. As such, it is onwards not anticipated that any right turn
delay into site will have back-up issues onto Kanes Hill roundabout, which
is approximately 175 metres away.
63. The Moorgreen Road junction is used as part of the access / egress
arrangements for the Ageas Bowl’s major event days which happen up
to 12 times each yar each year and was secured as part of a previous
planning permission. The previous permission allows the Moorgreen
Road access to be used for up to 400 vehicles arriving and unlimited
vehicles exiting the site. The golf course is anticipated to be closed or
have reduced operating hours on major event days and a section of the
golf course will be used for overflow parking.
64. The development will not alter the existing Moorhill Road access, which
accords with visibility standards and is restricted to left and right turn in and
left turn out only. The car park entrance is close to the Moorhill Road
junction and connects to the existing road network running through the golf
course, which will be slightly realigned to make way for the club house

68

building. A new entrance gate and signage is proposed at the Moorgreen
Road entrance, with the gates providing additional security when the golf
course is closed and will be under the control of the steward living on the
premises.
65. Overall, it is considered that the proposal accords with policy provisions in
that the development has an appropriate level of parking and provides an
acceptable layout and means of access for vehicles, with clear pedestrian
routes from the car park and golf course into the club house building.
Provision is made for cycle storage, although most trips are likely to be by
car due to the location of the golf course and equipment needed.
Trees
66. Saved Policy 59.BE (i) requires development to take full account of natural
features and trees worthy of retention and these requirements are in line
with the National Planning Policy Framework.
67. The site is bordered by significant tree groups to the south west and south
east. The trees to the south west, along the highway, are protected by a
Tree Preservation Order. No significant trees are due for removal under
the proposed development and the submission is accompanied by an
arboricultural impact assessment, which stipulates methods of protecting
the trees on the site. No objection has been raised by the Council’s Tree
Officer and a condition will be used to ensure the tree protection methods
are in place before construction work commences on the site.
Ecology
68. Saved Policy 25.NC looks to protect habitats and ecological features of
importance. Since the adoption of these policies, the ecological
requirements have been strengthened with paragraph 170 d) of the NPPF
requiring development to minimise impacts on and provide net gains for
biodiversity.
69. The planning submission is accompanied by an ecological appraisal and
reptile surveys. The contents of which have been reviewed and approved
by the Council’s Ecology Officer.
70. The ecological information concludes that the habitats present across the
site are commonplace within the UK and the overall ecological habitats
value of the site is low. The site and surrounding land has the potential to
support birds, bats and hedgehogs and the report outlines methods to
protect these species during the development phase. The reptile survey
confirms a low population of slow worms and previous survey data
highlighted a population of common lizards. As such a precautionary
working method statement for reptiles will be required before issuing the
planning decision.

69

71. The report outlines ecological enhancements within the site such as the
proposed green roof; planting of trees; vegetation and flower rich grass; the
provision of ten bird and ten bat boxes and the inclusion of new habitats for
reptiles, hedgehogs and bees. Precise details of the enhancements
measures will need to be approved as part of a landscape and
environmental management plan prior to issuing the decision.
72. With the extra information, the development will be able to protect existing
species on site and incorporate ecological enhancements to provide
biodiversity net gain. As such the development will meet the policy
requirements.
Drainage and Flood Risk
73. Saved Policy 45.ES requires development proposals to incorporate
measures for the disposal of surface water, where practical through
sustainable drainage systems and include maintenance arrangements.
Saved Policy 158.OS (viii) adds the requirement that development
proposals must ensure that surface water drainage will not increase flood
risks downstream. The policy requirements are in line with the National
Planning Policy Framework, with paragraph 165 requiring sustainable
drainage systems to be incorporated into major developments.
74. The submission is supported by a flood risk assessment, which confirms
that the site is within flood zone 1 with a low risk of fluvial flooding and a
very flow risk of surface water flooding.
75. The proposal includes a surface water drainage strategy, which aims to
maintain existing greenfield discharge rates. Whilst infiltration is not
possible due to the soil type, the proposal incorporates a number of above
ground forms of naturalised infiltration that will treat and transport surface
water falling from the development and funnel it into a large attenuation
pond on the eastern side of the site.
76. The car park will be surfaced in a geocellular grid system underlain with
gravel that will filter the water and will be graded or have a connection
leading to the attention pond. Water falling on the building will directed
towards the green roof and through the planters, which filter the water and
drain straight into the attenuation pond.
77. The attenuation pond will hold a significant volume of water and so will
slow down the surface water run off rate. Overtime the collected surface
water will be discharged into the drainage ditch running along the southern
side of the site and feed into the wider drainage network that currently
serves the golf course. The attenuation pond and SUD’s system will also
offer benefits to landscaping, biodiversity and water quality.
78. The surface water drainage strategy has been reviewed by the County
Council’s Flood and Water Team and the Council’s Ecology Officer and no

70

objection has been raised. The final details of the drainage scheme are to
be approved before issuing the planning decision.
Residential Amenity
79. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted local plan requires development to
avoid unduly interfering, disturbing or conflicting with adjoining or nearby
residential properties, including by way of overlooking and loss of light or
outlook, noise and disturbance. Paragraph 127 of the NPPF, amongst
other things, requires that planning decisions ensure that development
provides a high standard of amenity for existing and future users.
80. The nearest dwellings are 40m away from the site, on the opposite side
of Moorhill Gardens situated behind a dense row of trees. Approximately
80m to the north is the start a row of three dwellings at (Thorneydown
Bungalow, Holmes Manor and South Lodge) and the proposal includes
further tree planting along this boundary. At these distances the
proposed club house and associated car park is not considered to have
an unacceptable impact on the dwellings in terms of overlooking, loss of
light or outlook.
81. The club house contains a bar/ lounge, which is provided for customers
of the golf course as the hospitality facilities within the main Ageas Bowl
stadium get busy. Further details have been requested as to the bar’s
opening hours and measures to control noise, odours and general
disturbance from the premises. This information would need to be
agreed before issuing a decision in consultation with the Council’s
Environmental Health Officer.
Sustainability
82. Saved Policy 37.ES requires development to maximise energy efficiency
and make provision for renewable energy. These provisions are generally
in line with the position of the National Planning Policy Framework.
83. The development incorporates many of the passive design principles to
maximise natural daylight and ventilation and thus the increase energy
efficiency of the building. The development also includes a number of
sustainable technologies within the club house building such as a green
roof and the addition of solar panels. Whereas the car park makes
provision for electric vehicles and there is a small area for staff cycle
storage. As such the proposal is considered to meet the sustainability
requirements set out with the planning policies and helps towards the
council achieving its climate change ambitions.
Other material considerations

71

Equalities Implications:
84. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:- A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it;
iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
85. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Conclusion
86. It is considered that the proposal meets the national and local planning
policy requirements in respect of development within the countryside and
strategic gap. In addition, the development is of a good quality design and
landscaping; provides satisfactory car parking and access arrangements;
includes protection of trees; makes provision for protected species and
biodiversity enhancements; provides a sustainable drainage system and
includes sustainable technologies.
87. As such the proposal is recommended for permission subject to the
approval of the outstanding information and recommended planning
conditions (as listed at the front of the report).

72

73

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 13
HEWEB – Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area Committee Monday
25 January 2021.
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

H/20/88887
Clare Martin
Wednesday 30 September 2020
63 HIGH STREET, BOTLEY, SOUTHAMPTON, SO30 2ES
Chris Hamp
Single storey side extension

Recommendation:

PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS
1

The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with
the following plans numbered: 01revA
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act
1990.

3

The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the
development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those
used on the existing dwelling.
Reason: To preserve the character and appearance of Botley Conservation
Area.
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a
timely manner.

Report:
This application has been referred to committee because the applicant is
related to a Councillor.
Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
1. The property is one half of a pair of semi detached two storey houses with
a deep frontage accommodating car parking and trees/ landscaping. The
house has an existing single storey extension within its rear garden.
2. The house and surrounding properties are of a traditional design, and
although these range in scale and proportions, they share a common pallet

75

of materials and design features. The house and immediately adjoining
properties sit along way back within their plots along an established
building line. The site forms part of the historic Botley Conservation Area.
3. There are no listed buildings directly adjacent to the property and as such
work at the property will not harm the setting of any listed buildings.
Description of Application
4. The proposal is for a single storey side extension to provide entrance hall,
toilet and utility room and measures 2.5m(width) by 7.5m(depth) by
3.2m(height). The extension has a mono pitched roof and is of a fairly
traditional design.
Relevant Planning History
5. H/19/85795 – Alterations to existing rear entrance and existing rear
conservatory – Permitted (July 2019)
Representations Received
6. None
Consultation Responses
7. Botley Parish Council - No objection, plans should show provision for
waste bins at the front of the property once the side access is removed.
8. Built Heritage Consultant – No objection, advice provided on external
materials and detailing.
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site




Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Residential Area
Within Botley Conservation Area

Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:



59.BE (General Development)
169.LB (Conservation Areas)

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
9. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While
this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can
therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the
determination of this application.

76

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
10. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate on
31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in January
2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice on 1 April
2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to the Local Plan to
enable its adoption, anticipated in mid 2021. Given the status of the
Emerging Plan, and the policies related to this development site, it is
considered that overall considerable weight can be attributed to it. The
most relevant policies are:
 DM1 (General development);
 DM12 (Heritage assets).
Supplementary Planning Documents



Quality Places (2011)
Botley Conservation Area (2005)

National Planning Policy Framework
11. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
National Planning Practice Guidance
12. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
13. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a Local
Planning Authority determining an application to do so in accordance with
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.
The Development Plan comprises the Saved Policies of the Eastleigh
Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the Hampshire Minerals and
Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in this case). The NPPF and the
Planning Practice Guidance constitute material considerations of significant
weight.

77

14. The site also lies within a Conservation Area and Section 71(1) of the
Planning (Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:
“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in the
Conservation Area of any powers (under the Planning Acts), special
attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the
character or appearance of that area”.
Principle and Policies:
15. The site is located within the urban edge where the principle of
development is acceptable providing the details accord with the relevant
planning policies.
16. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Adopted Local Plan requires development to
take full and proper account of the context of the site including the
character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass,
scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high
standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of access and
layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, make provision for refuse
and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses
through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes.
17. The site is also located within Botley Conservation Area where a higher
standard of design is required. Saved Policy 169.LB of the Adopted Local
Plan requires development within conservation area to:  Preserves or enhances the character or appearance of the
Conservation Area or its setting;
 Not detract from the character of the area and where appropriate
retains the existing street building line and the rhythm of the streetscene;
 Ensure the mass, materials and form of the are in scale and harmony
with the existing and adjoining buildings and the area as a whole and
the proportions of its parts relate well to each other, to the existing
building and to adjoining buildings; and
 Use materials that are appropriate to and in sympathy with the existing
buildings and the particular character of the area.
Assessment:
18. The proposal is for a modest single storey side extension running the
depth of the original part of the house. The extension is considered to be
in proportion to the existing property and its form, detailing and materials
reflect those present on the house and its parts relate well to each other.
19. The single storey extension is recessed slightly from the front of the
house and will retain a clear separation gap between the property and
the building immediately adjacent (at 61 High Street). The existing
property sits at the end of long driveway, where the side extension will
not be prominently viewed from the street scene and follows the

78

established building line. As such the proposal is considered to preserve
the character and appearance of the Botley Conservation Area.
20. The position of the single storey extension is not considered to
unacceptably impact on residential amenity, with it being sited directly
adjacent to a dentist surgery rather than another residential property.
The extension has a long blank side wall, with only high level windows,
and so will not lead to increased levels of overlooking between the
house and neighbouring building.
21. The proposed extension will not result in an increased need for further
onsite car parking and there is ample space on the property’s frontage
to store bins without these impinging on or affecting the appearance of
the conservation area.
Other Material Considerations - Equalities Implications:
22. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states: A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due
regard to the need to:
i. eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
ii. advance equality of opportunity between persons who share
a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not
share it;
iii. foster good relations between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it.
23. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups. It
is considered that this application does not raise any equality implications.
Conclusion
24. The proposed single storey side extension is considered to be an
acceptable addition to the property that preserves the character and
appearance of the Botley Conservation Area and will not result in a
material impact on residential amenity.
25. The application is recommended for permission and is in accordance with
national and local planning policies.

79

80

Agenda Item 14
(HEWEB, Hedge End, West End and Botley Local Area
Committee, 25th January 2021)
Application Number:
Case Officer:
Received Date:
Site Address:
Applicant:
Proposal:

H/20/89080
Rachael Morris
23/10/20
2 Fairlie Close, Hedge End, Southampton, SO30 4WQ
Cllr Ian Corben
Construction of a Victorian Greenhouse

Recommendation:
PERMIT
_______________________________________________________________
CONDITIONS AND REASONS:
1. The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance
with the following plans numbered: LOC 01, BLOC 01 and 5818/T Sheet
1 and 2
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper
planning.
2. The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years
from the date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning
Act 1990.
3. The materials to be used must match as closely as possible, in type,
colour and texture those listed in Section 5 of the application form.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual relationship of the new
development to the existing.
4. Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National
Planning Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council
takes a positive approach to the handling of development proposals so
as to achieve, whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all
proposals are dealt with in a timely manner.
Report:
1. This application has been referred to Committee because the applicant
is an elected member.

81

Site Characteristics and Character of the Locality
2. The site is located in Fairlie Close, a cul-de-sac off Stephenson Way
which is a residential road off Maunsell Way.
3. The cul-de-sac is made up of 8 houses which are all detached and set
back off the highway with driveways and front gardens.
4. This property forms an end dwelling in a line of houses which is adjacent
to Maunsell Way and backs onto another residential area with an area of
woodland beyond the boundary wall. The house sits well within the
street and follows the same design characteristics.
Description of Application
5. The application proposal is the construction of Victorian Greenhouse.
This development would be located next to the existing garage and
forward of the principal elevation.
6. The greenhouse will measure 1.6m to the eaves, 2.7m to the ridge with
additional decorative finials on each end of the greenhouse which adds
a further 0.45m height to these sections.
Relevant Planning History
7. No relevant history
Representations Received
8. None
Consultation Responses
Parish
9. No Objection
Asset Management
10. No Objection
Policy Context and Designations Applicable to Site




Within Built-up Area Boundary
Within Established Residential Area
Flood Zone 2 and 3

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies
Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) Saved Policies:

82





25.NC (Promotion of biodiversity);
59.BE (Design criteria);
104.T (Off-highway parking);

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
11. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material
consideration, it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited
weight in the determination of this application.
Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036
12. The 2016-2036 Local Plan was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate
on 31st October 2018 and the examination hearings concluded in
January 2020. The Council received the Inspector’s post-Hearing advice
on 1 April 2020. The Council is progressing with modifications to the
Local Plan to enable its adoption, anticipated in mid-2021. Given the
status of the Emerging Plan, it is considered that overall considerable
weight can be attributed to it. The most relevant policies are:


Strategic policies:
S1 (Sustainable Development);




Development Management policies:
DM1 (General Development Criteria);
DM14 (Car Parking);

Supplementary Planning Documents



Quality Places (November 2011);
Residential Parking Standards (January 2009);

National Planning Policy Framework
13. At national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or
the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Policy
Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the ‘Framework’) states that (as required by
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of
sustainable development unless material considerations indicate
otherwise. A deliverable 5 year supply of housing within each local
authority area is required, and if this is not demonstrated a tilted balance
in favour of the development applies. Agent of Change principles protect
existing businesses.

83

14. Three dimensions of sustainability are to be sought jointly: economic
(supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social (providing
housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should
also be taken into account, so that development responds to the
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different
areas.
National Planning Practice Guidance
15. Where material, the Planning Practice Guidance which supports the
provisions and policies of the NPPF should be afforded weight in the
consideration and determination of planning applications.
Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative
Background
16. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a
Local Planning Authority determining an application to do so in
accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations
indicate otherwise. The Development Plan comprises the Saved
Policies of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 and the
Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan 2013 (which is not applicable in
this case). The NPPF and the Planning Practice Guidance constitute
material considerations of significant weight.
Principle:
Sustainable Development:
17. Section 2 of the NPPF (February 2019) states that the purpose of the
planning system is to contribute to the achievement of sustainable
development, which can be summarised as meeting the needs of the
present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet
their own needs.
18. Achieving sustainable development means that the planning system has
three overarching objectives – economic, social and environmental
(which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually
supportive ways) that should be delivered through the preparation and
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the
Framework.
19. Planning policies and decisions should play an active role in guiding
development towards sustainable solutions, but in doing so should take
local circumstances into account, to reflect the character, needs and
opportunities of each area.

84

20. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on
the Environment. Details elsewhere in this report set out the Climate
Change and Environmental implications of this application and their
proposed mitigations.
Policy:
21. Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take
full and proper account of the context of the site including the
character and appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass,
scale, materials, layout, design and siting. It also requires a high
standard of landscape design, have a satisfactory means of access
and layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, make provision for
refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring
uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and
fumes.
Design and layout:
22. The Victorian greenhouse will be seen from the street scene as it will
sit in front of the principal elevation and next to the existing double
garage of no.2 Fairlie Close.
23. The street scene does have some structures that are forward of the
principal elevation, such as the dwelling’s double garage, in which
this structure will not protrude past. The dwelling at the opposite end
of the close to the application property also has a double garage that
is forward of the principal elevation.
24. The greenhouse is a modest size, measuring approx. 3.5m by 2.1m;
with traditional design aspects including finials, gable ends and
aspects of both glass and brick. The brick base will match the existing
house and ensure the structure looks in-keeping to its locality. The
yellow pastel coated aluminium will also sit well in the street scene as
it will compliment the brick and the render that is seen throughout the
street scene.
25. The greenhouse height will measure 1.6m to the eaves, 2.7m to the
ridge with additional decorative finials on each end of the greenhouse
which adds a further 0.45m height to these sections. The adjacent
boundary wall measures 1.8m high so will partially screen the
greenhouse from Maunsell Wall. However, the proposal being seen
from Maunsell Way is not considered to create a detriment as it is set

85

quite far back off this main section of road which also has large sections
of vegetation between it.
26. The development accords with Quality Places SPD in that there will be
no unacceptable impact on the amenity of the neighbouring properties in
terms of loss of privacy, light or outlook.
27. The proposal will maintain sufficient amenity space and leave parking
standards unaffected.
Drainage and Flood Risk:
28. The proposal is sited in designated flood zone 2 and 3. The
appropriate form has been completed and the proposed floor level will
be no lower than the existing floor level of the main dwelling with any
flood proofing where appropriate. This is a successful method of
mitigation.
Equalities Implications and Climate Change:
29. Section 149 of the Equalities Act 2010 created the public sector equality
duty. Section149 states:30. A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard
to the need to:
eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act;
advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;
foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected
characteristic and persons who do not share it.
31. When making policy decisions, the Council must take account of the
equality duty and in particular any potential impact on protected groups.
It is considered that this application does not raise any equality
implications.
32. National legislation and guidance, together with local policy ensure that
all planning applications are tested for their resilience to and impact on
the environment. The Climate Change and Environmental implications
of this application and their proposed mitigations have been considered.
Conclusion
33. The proposal is a modest size and will not create a detrimental impact to
its locality. The greenhouse will sit in-keeping to its street scene and
cause no loss of outlook or loss of privacy to any neighbours. The
recommendation is to Permit.

86

87

This page is intentionally left blank

